

UNIVERSIDAD DE INVESTIGACIÓN DE TECNOLOGÍA EXPERIMENTAL YACHAY

Escuela de Ciencias Biológicas e Ingeniería

TÍTULO: Bacteria associated with sessile marine invertebrates as a source of active metabolites for their application in human and animal health

Trabajo de integración curricular presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Biólogo

Autor: Maily Selena González Avilés

> **Tutor:** Frank Alexis, Ph.D

Co-tutor: Cristobal Domínguez, MSc.

Urcuquí, Diciembre 2021



Urcuquí, 6 de diciembre de 2021

SECRETARÍA GENERAL (Vicerrectorado Académico/Cancillería) ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA CARRERA DE BIOLOGÍA ACTA DE DEFENSA No. UITEY-BIO-2021-00038-AD

A los 6 días del mes de diciembre de 2021, a las 11:30 horas, de manera virtual mediante videoconferencia, y ante el Tribunal Calificador, integrado por los docentes:

Presidente Tribunal de Defensa	Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN , Ph.D.				
Miembro No Tutor	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO , Ph.D.				
Tutor	Dr. ALEXIS FRANK, Ph.D.				

El(la) señor(ita) estudiante GONZALEZ AVILES, MAILY SELENA, con cédula de identidad No. 0932518723, de la ESCUELA DE CIENCIAS BIOLÓGICAS E INGENIERÍA, de la Carrera de BIOLOGÍA, aprobada por el Consejo de Educación Superior (CES), mediante Resolución RPC-SO-37-No.438-2014, realiza a través de videoconferencia, la sustentación de su trabajo de titulación denominado: BACTERIA ASSOCIATED WITH SESSILE MARINE INVERTEBRATES AS A SOURCE OF ACTIVE METABOLITES FOR THEIR APPLICATION IN HUMANN AND ANIMAL HEALTH, previa a la obtención del título de BIÓLOGO/A.

El citado trabajo de titulación, fue debidamente aprobado por el(los) docente(s):

Tutor Dr. ALEXIS FRANK , Ph.D.

Y recibió las observaciones de los otros miembros del Tribunal Calificador, las mismas que han sido incorporadas por el(la) estudiante.

Previamente cumplidos los requisitos legales y reglamentarios, el trabajo de titulación fue sustentado por el(la) estudiante y examinado por los miembros del Tribunal Calificador. Escuchada la sustentación del trabajo de titulación a través de videoconferencia, que integró la exposición de el(la) estudiante sobre el contenido de la misma y las preguntas formuladas por los miembros del Tribunal, se califica la sustentación del trabajo de titulación del trabajo de titulación con las siguientes calificaciones:

Тіро	Docente	Calificación
Presidente Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN , Ph.D.	9,5
Tutor	Dr. ALEXIS FRANK, Ph.D.	10,0
Miembro Tribunal De Defensa	Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO, Ph.D.	10,0

Lo que da un promedio de: 9.8 (Nueve punto Ocho), sobre 10 (diez), equivalente a: APROBADO

Para constancia de lo actuado, firman los miembros del Tribunal Calificador, el/la estudiante y el/la secretario ad-hoc.

Certifico que en cumplimiento del Decreto Ejecutivo 1017 de 16 de marzo de 2020, la defensa de trabajo de titulación (o examen de grado modalidad teórico práctica) se realizó vía virtual, por lo que las firmas de los miembros del Tribunal de Defensa de Grado, constan en forma digital.

MAILY SELENA GONZALEZ AVILES Fecha: 2021.12.14 17:53:27 -05'00'

GONZALEZ AVILES, MAILY SELENA

Estudiante

MARCO ESTEBAN GUDINO GOMEZJURADO Fecha: 2021.12.06 14:43:36 -05'00'

Dr. GUDIÑO GOMEZJURADO, MARCO ESTEBAN, Ph.D.

Presidente Tribunal de Defensa

FIRMAK ALEXIS Fecha: 2021.12.06 14:56:20 -05/00

Dr. ALEXIS FRANK , Ph.D. Tutor





Dr. SANTIAGO VISPO, NELSON FRANCISCO, Ph.D.



Secretario Ad-hoc

AUTORÍA

Yo, **MAILY SELENA GONZÁLEZ AVILÉS**, con cédula de identidad 0932518723, declaro que las ideas, juicios, valoraciones, interpretaciones, consultas bibliográficas, definiciones y conceptualizaciones expuestas en el presente trabajo; así cómo, los procedimientos y herramientas utilizadas en la investigación, son de absoluta responsabilidad de el/la autora (a) del trabajo de integración curricular. Así mismo, me acojo a los reglamentos internos de la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay.

Urcuquí, Diciembre 2021.

Maily Selena González Avilés CI: 0932518723

AUTORIZACIÓN DE PUBLICACIÓN

Yo, **MAILY SELENA GONZÁLEZ AVILÉS**, con cédula de identidad 0932518723, cedo a la Universidad de Investigación de Tecnología Experimental Yachay, los derechos de publicación de la presente obra, sin que deba haber un reconocimiento económico por este concepto. Declaro además que el texto del presente trabajo de titulación no podrá ser cedido a ninguna empresa editorial para su publicación u otros fines, sin contar previamente con la autorización escrita de la Universidad.

Asimismo, autorizo a la Universidad que realice la digitalización y publicación de este trabajo de integración curricular en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en el Art. 144 de la Ley Orgánica de Educación Superior

Urcuquí, Diciembre 2021.

Maily Selena González Avilés CI: 0932518723 Dedicatoria

A mi familia.

Maily Selena González Avilés

AGRADECIMIENTOS

Quiero agradecer a mis padres Leonor y Jorge, quienes han sido mi mayor inspiración y motivación para alcanzar mis metas. A Gardenia, Mery, Uriel, Bianchis y Milo por ser quienes han alegrado e iluminado mi vida. A mi tutor Frank Alexis, por ser guía durante el desarrollo de este proyecto. A mi co-tutor Cristóbal Domínguez, por haberse comprometido con el proyecto. A mis profesores de la Escuela de Ciencias Biológicas e Ingeniería, en especial a los profesores Hugo Romero, Javier Álvarez, Mariel Pérez y Nelson Santiago Vispo por brindarme su amistad y confianza durante mi trayectoria académica. Extiendo mi sincero agradecimiento al Centro Nacional de Acuicultura e Investigaciones Marinas (CENAIM), en especial a Cecilia Tomalá e Iván Gonzabay, quienes me brindaron su ayuda profesional durante los experimentos. Finalmente, pero no menos importante, quisiera agradecer a mi mejor amigo Harvey Marín, por ser la persona más incondicional que pude conocer en Yachay.

Maily Selena González Avilés

Resumen

En las últimas décadas, los invertebrados sésiles marinos han sido el foco de atención en la búsqueda de potenciales aplicaciones industriales y farmacéuticas. Esponjas y zoantidos han sido reportados como buenos candidatos para extracción de compuestos bioactivos, útiles para tratar enfermedades. Particularmente, los zoantidos bien representados en la Reserva Marina el Pelado (REMAPE), han mostrado un gran potencial de compuestos bioactivos como zoantaminas. Sin embargo, los microorganismos asociados han sido poco explorados. En este contexto, este trabajo tuvo como objetivo aislar bacterias asociadas a Zoanthus pulchellus mediante técnicas microbiológicas, bioquímicas, identificación molecular y análisis bioinformático para identificar cada género bacteriano. Se lograron identificar 13 aislados bacterianos, pertenecientes a las especies Pseudovibrio denitrificans, Vibrio harveyi, Tenacibaculum mesophilum, Microbulbifer variabilis, Ferrimonas kyonanensis, Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea, Agarivorans litoreus y Bacillus sp. Los aislados bacterianos fueron cultivados, se realizaron extractos y fracciones y se evaluaron frente a vibrios patógenos del camarón, Vibrio harveyi (cepa E22), Vibrio campbellii (cepa LM2013), Vibrio vulnificus (cepa S2), y Vibrio parahaemolyticus (cepa BA94C2, positivo para las toxinas PirA/PirB). Los extractos crudos y los sobrenadantes de cultivo no mostraron actividad microbicida hacia los vibrios evaluados. Sin embargo, cuando se evaluó la capacidad de las bacterias para excluir los vibrios patógenos en un ensayo de exclusión competitiva, usando tres concentraciones (10⁴, 10⁵ y 10⁶ UFC mL⁻¹), los mejores resultados se obtuvieron con las bacterias Z2, Z13 y Z14 mostrando efectos inhibitorios hacia los vibrios patógenos. Además, evaluamos la capacidad de los extractos a dosis no microbicidas para interrumpir la formación de biopelículas en Vibrio parahaemolyticus, causante de la enfermedad de la necrosis aguda del hepatopáncreas (AHPND por sus siglas en inglés). Tres de estos extractos (Z1, Z3 y Z16) lograron inhibir significativamente la formación de biopelículas.

Los extractos y fracciones de las bacterias obtenidas a partir de UPLC-DAD-ELSD se evaluaron también frente a tres líneas celulares de carcinoma humano MCF–7 (cáncer de mama), Caco–2 (cáncer de colon) y Hep-G2 (cáncer de hígado). Las líneas tumorales se cultivaron en medios de cultivo estándares y la afectación por parte de las fracciones fue

determinada mediante el ensayo de viabilidad celular por reducción del compuesto Bromuro de 3-(4,5-Dimetiltiazol-2-ilo)-2,5-difeniltetrazol (MTT). La fracción (F-3) del aislado codificado Z10 (*Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea*) mostró un efecto citotóxico significativo (P < 0.05) respecto al grupo control (células sin extractos). La toxicidad se explica debido a que no se evidenció viabilidad celular, y esto fue observado para las tres líneas celulares evaluadas. Estos resultados demuestran que las bacterias asociadas a *Zoanthus pulchellus* tienen potencial para ser usadas en salud humana y animal, debido a que mostraron actividades microbicidas cuando se evaluaron frente a patógenos de camarón y de forma similar demostraron actividad citotóxica cuando se evaluaron frente a líneas tumorales.

Palabras claves: bacterias simbiontes, camarón, carcinoma, compuestos bioactivos, vibrios patógenos, zoantidos.

Abstract

In recent decades, sessile marine invertebrates have been the focus of attention in the search for potential industrial and pharmaceutical applications. Sponges and zoanthids have been reported as promising candidates for the extraction of bioactive compounds, useful for treating diseases. In particular, well-represented zoanthids in El Pelado Marine Reserve (REMAPE) have shown great potential for bioactive compounds such as zoanthamines. However, the associated microorganisms have been little explored. In this context, this work aimed to isolate bacteria associated with Zoanthus pulchellus using microbiological and biochemical techniques, molecular identification and bioinformatic analysis techniques to identify each bacterial species. Thirteen bacterial isolates were identified, belonging to the species *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*, Vibrio harveyi, Tenacibaculum mesophilum, Microbulbifer variabilis, Ferrimonas kyonanensis, Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea, Agarivorans litoreus and Bacillus spp. Bacterial isolates were cultured, extracts and fractions were made and evaluated against shrimp pathogenic vibrios, including Vibrio harveyi (strain E22), Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013), Vibrio vulnificus (strain S2), and Vibrio parahaemolyticus (strain BA94C2, positive to PirA/PirB toxins). The crude extracts and the culture supernatants did not show microbicidal activity towards the evaluated vibrios. However, when the ability of bacteria to exclude pathogenic vibrios was evaluated in a competitive exclusion test, using three concentrations (10^4 , 10^5 and 10^6 CFU mL⁻¹), the best results were obtained with bacteria Z2, Z13 and Z14 showing inhibitory effects towards pathogenic vibrios. In addition, we evaluated the ability of extracts at non-microbicidal doses to interrupt biofilm formation in Vibrio parahaemolyticus, which causes acute

hepatopancreas necrosis disease (AHPND). Three of these extracts (Z1, Z3 and Z16) were able to significantly inhibit biofilm formation.

The extracts and fractions obtained from UPLC-DAD-ELSD were also evaluated against three human carcinoma cell lines MCF-7 (breast cancer), Caco-2 (colon cancer) and Hep-G2 (cancer of the liver). The tumor lines were cultured in standard culture media and the affectation by the fractions was determined by means of the cell viability assay by reduction of the compound 3-(4,5-Dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT). The fraction (F-3) of the isolate encoded Z10 (*Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea*) showed a significant cytotoxic effect (P < 0.05) compared to the control group (cells without extracts). The toxicity is explained because cell viability was not evidenced, and this was observed for the three cell lines evaluated. These results demonstrate that the bacteria associated with *Zoanthus pulchellus* have the potential to be used in human and animal health, since they showed microbicidal activities when evaluated against tumor lines.

Keywords: bioactive compounds, carcinoma, pathogenic vibrios, shrimp, symbiotic bacteria, zoanthids.

CONTENTS

RESUMENi
ABSTRACTiii
List of Figures viii
List of Tablesxi
INTRODUCTION1
HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES4
THEORETICAL BACKGROUND5
Zoanthids: characteristics and diversity5
Chemical ecology of zoanthids
Zoanthids and their biotechnological potential10
Metabolites associated to zoanthids with bioactivity11
Bacteria associated to zoanthids with bioactivity16
Cytotoxicity17
METHODOLOGY19
Sample collection
Isolation of bacteria and growth conditions

Biochemical characterization of isolated strains
Molecular identification of isolated strains
DNA extraction and amplification21
Phylogenetic analysis
Production of bacterial biomass
Preparation of extracts and fractions
Animal health evaluation23
Antimicrobial activity
Microbicidal effect of secreted products from isolates
Exclusion capacity of isolates25
Biofilm formation and inhibition25
Human health evaluation
Human cell lines and cell culture conditions
MTT reduction cell viability bioassay27
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Isolation and characterization of bacterial isolates
Genotypic identification of bacteria
Extracts and fractions
Animal health: assessment against pathogenic shrimp vibrios
Antimicrobial activity from extracts and secreted products of isolated bacteria40

Exclusion capacity of isolates	41
Biofilm formation and inhibition	44
Human health: carcinoma cell lines assessment	46
CONCLUSIONS	50
RECOMMENDATIONS	51
LITERATURE CITED	52
SUPPI FMENTARV ΜΑΤΕΡΙΑΙ	63

List of Figures

Figure 1. A simplified depiction of the marine biotechnology pipeline, which combine
research, industry and business sectors. (Rotter et al., 2021)
Figure 2. Zoanthus pulchellus isolated from REMAPE reserve
Figure 3. Phylogenetic tree of Cnidaria phylum, taken and modified from Karla Jaramillo
(2018)
Figure 4. Zoanthid zooxanthellated in the Galapagos, (a) Zoanthus and (b) Palythoa (James
and Dickman, 2009)
Figure 5. Zoantharians identified in REMAPE reserve by Jaramillo et al. (2018): (a)
Parazoanthus darwini, (b) Antipathozoanthus hickmani, (c) Terrazoanthus patagonichus, (d)
Terrazoanthus sp., (e) Zoanthus cf. pulchellus, (f) Zoanthus cf. sociatus
Figure 6. Palytoxin, the most potent non-proteinaceous toxin for humans (Guillen et al.,
2019)
Figure 7. Sterols found in zoanthids. (Guillen et al., 2018)
Figure 8. Types of palytoxines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018)
Figure 9. Zoanthamines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018)
Figure 10. Types of ecdysteroids found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018)
Figure 11. Zoantoxhanthines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018)
Figure 12. Study area of specimens collected (Karla Jaramillo, 2018). A) Sample collection
site in REMAPE, San Pedro de Manglaralto; B) Zoanthids collected in REMAPE
Figure 13. Illustration of minuterized biochemical tests
Figure 14. Colorimetric analysis of the extracts diluted in F2 and F3
<i>Figure 15.</i> Different morphotypes of colonies grown on marine agar

<i>Figure 16.</i> Isolates reseeded by depletion in individual marine agar plates
Figure 17. Phylogenetic analysis of the sequences obtained in this study with GenBank
sequences. The tree was elaborated with the Maximum Likelihood method and the $GTR + G$
+ I model with a total of 1000 repetitions (Bootstrap)
Figure 18. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z1
Figure 19. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z10
Figure 20. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z14
Figure 21. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z16
Figure 22. Exclusion zone of bacterial isolates at volumes of 50 μ L, 100 μ l, 2% NaCl saline
(SS) and oxytetracycline at 10.0 mg mL – 1 against Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013),
causing bioluminescence in shrimp cultures. a) Bacterial isolate Z4 (Tenacibaculum
mesophilum), b) Bacterial isolate Z7 (Microbulbifer variabilis), c) Bacterial isolate Z14
(Microbulbifer variabilis) d) Bacterial isolate Z2 (Vibrio harveyi)41
Figure 23. Exclusion zones of bacterial isolates at concentrations of 10^4 , 10^5 and 10^6 CFU
mL, a) Z2 (Vibrio harveyi) vs Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), b) Z13 (Vibrio
harveyi) vs Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), c) Z14 (Microbulbifer variabilis) vs
Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), d) Z2 (Vibrio harveyi) vs Vibrio parahaemolyticus
(strains BA94C2) (BA)
Figure 24. Inhibition effect (mm) of bacterial isolates of Zoanthids against pathogenic
shrimp Vibrios
Figure 25. Percentage of inhibition of extracts from isolated bacteria
Figure 26. Boxplot of the inhibition percentages of the extracts from isolated bacteria. The
graph shows a significant difference with $P_{value} 4.01 e^{-13}$
Figure 27. Inhibition assays against Hep-G2 (top) and MCF-7 (bottom) cell lines

List of Tables

Table	1. E	Biochemical	character	rization oj	f bacteria	isolated	from Z.	pulchellus.		30
Table	2. I	dentity perce	entages of	f bacteria	l isolates	of the 16	s rRNA i	ribosomal z	gene	31

INTRODUCTION

The problems associated with pathogens in both human and animal health have led to the exploration of other little-explored environments in the search for new bioactive compounds. In this context, marine organisms in recent decades have been the focus of attention of many researchers, because a large percentage of the extracts evaluated have been shown to have potential industrial and pharmaceutical applications (König et al. 2005; Liu et al. 2019; Nunnery et al. 2010; Tan et al. 2013; Singh et al. 2017; Jiménez 2018). Marine biotechnology stick out the importance of product development from marine organisms as a multidisciplinary and multidimensional research (Fig. 1). Globally, more than a thousand pharmacologically active compounds of marine origin have been characterized (Carroll et al. 2019; Deshmukh et al. 2017; Jiménez 2018; Leal et al. 2016; Newman and Cragg 2016b). This illustrates the great diversity and richness of active molecules that the marine environment harbors, and much of this molecule diversity is explained by being a highly competitive environment, where, particularly sedentary species such as sponges, tunicates and zoanthids (Mayer et al. 2009; Mayer et al. 2007; Mayer and Hamann 2002; Orhan et al. 2010; Simmons et al. 2005) are the organisms commonly selected for screening for bioactive molecules. Among the most prominent biological properties recorded for marine invertebrates are cancer, viruses, bacteria, fungi, hypertension, high cholesterol, and other diseases (Wang 2006; Huang et al. 2017; Rao et al. 2006; Lavilla-Pitogo et al. ., 1998; Chen et al. 2013).



Figure 1. A simplified depiction of the marine biotechnology pipeline, which combine research, industry and business sectors. (Rotter et al., 2021).

Cancer is the second leading cause of death globally (Nagai and Kim, 2017; Rahman et al., 2020), so finding new molecules with antitumor activity is very promising. Another high priority area is the identification of new antimicrobial agents capable of counteracting multiresistant pathogenic bacteria (Singer et al., 2003; Magiorakos et al., 2012). This multidrug resistance requires efforts to find new effective antimicrobials from alternative sources. In the last decade, this has included the development of new antimicrobials from marine organisms. In this area, many organisms of marine origin are exposed to different challenges that stimulate the production of biologically active molecules as defense mechanisms (Gogineni et al., 2018).

Ecuador is one of the most megadiverse countries worldwide, offering a high potential for opportunities in the bioprospecting of active substances (Gaibor, 2002). Because of its geographical position, the country hosts great marine diversity, including algae, sponges, cnidarians, mollusks, crustaceans, echinoderms, fish, among others. Many of these species potentially are sources of new bioactive compounds. In particular, the zoanthids (Cnidaria, Order Zoantharia), marine invertebrates that are widely distributed throughout the Indo and Pacific oceans, and are known to biosynthesize a wide array of natural products with unique structural features and interesting bioactivity, such as zoanthamines (Behenna et al., 2008; Fukuzawa et al., 1995; Guillen et al., 2018; Rao et al., 1984). Zoanthids generate a wide range of micro-niches for microorganisms such as bacteria, viruses and fungi (Bourne and Munn, 2005), including yeasts (Bastos 2017). Several studies report a close association between microorganisms and zoanthid hosts.

Various genera of actinobacteria have been reported to be associated with zoanthids. Considering that many of them are producers of antibiotics, they produce bioactive compounds that protect the zoanthid host against pathogens (Sun et al., 2014). This symbiotic association between microorganisms and marine invertebrates can benefit hosts by protecting them from disease (for example, by producing killer yeast toxins) and providing nutrients (Bourne et al., 2016, Ritchie, 2006). These observations point to the fundamental role of associated bacteria and their bioactive potential of zoanthids symbiont bacteria as a new source of active metabolites that deserve attention for research focused on marine bioprospecting. Recently, Guillen et al. (2018) described that the zoanthid species *Zoanthus pulchellus*, present in REMAPE, registers a high concentration of zoanthamines, whose

medical applications can be broad. The objective of the present study was to isolate the bacteria associated with *Z. pulchellus* (Figure 2) and to determine the bioactive potential of the extracts by screening human carcinoma lines and pathogenic shrimp vibrios.



Figure 2. Zoanthus pulchellus isolated from REMAPE reserve.

HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

Hypothesis

Bacteria associated with *Zoanthus pulchellus* are producers of bioactive compounds for human carcinoma cell lines and pathogenic shrimp vibrios.

General objective

Assess the potential of symbiotic bacteria associated with the *Zoanthus pulchellus* that occurs at REMAPE, as potential sources of bioactive compounds for human and animal health.

Specific objectives

- 1. Isolate and identify symbiotic bacteria associated to *Zoanthus pulchellus*.
- 2. Determine the bioactivity of symbiotic bacteria extracts against the pathogenic shrimp vibrios: *Vibrio harveyi*, *V. vulnificus*, *V. campbelli* and *V. parahaemolyticus*.
- 3. Determine the bioactivity of symbiotic bacteria fractions against human carcinoma cell lines MCF–7 (breast cancer), Caco–2 (colon cancer) and Hep-G2 (liver cancer).

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Zoanthids: characteristics and diversity

The Phylum Cnidaria is a diverse group of more than 13,000 species described so far, including jellyfish, hydras, anemones, and corals. Cnidaria comes from the Greek meaning nettle. Cnidarians have cells called cnidocytes which serve to capture and fix their prey. They are also involved in defense and movement. Cnidarians are generally colonial organisms but can also be individual (Reimer and Hickman, 2009). Cnidarians have two forms of life, in the larval stage they are polyps, and in the adult stage they are jellyfish (Low et al., 2016). They have radial symmetry and have tentacles or stinging structures called cnids. The nervous system consists of two nerve networks, and it lacks a respiratory and circulatory systems (Snyder et al., 2021).

The taxonomy of the Cnidarians is divided into two large groups, the Medusozoa Class, which in turn is divided into the Hydrozoa, Cubozoa, Scyphozoa, Staurozoa, and Myxozoa Subclasses and the Anthozoa Class that present organisms with only the polyp phase and that contains the Subclasses Octocorallia, Ceriantharia and Hexacorallia (Fig. 3) (Low et al., 2016). In particular, the Hexacorallia Subclass is an ecologically important group because in this clade is the Order Zoantharia, organisms that live in symbiosis with microalgae, dinoflagellates also known as Zooxanthellae, this symbiosis provides carbohydrates to corals, as well as some secondary metabolites of importance in human medicine (Reimer and Hickman, 2009).



Figure 3. Phylogenetic tree of Cnidaria phylum, taken and modified from Karla Jaramillo (2018).

In zoanthids, polyps form colonies generated from a basal mass or stolon, from which new polyps arise. Zoantharians have a flat pharynx with a syphonoglyph, and they have numerous mesenteries with weak musculature. They have an oral disc in which there are tentacles formed in two groups. Some species incorporate sand grains or some other debris in their wall, generally have a thick cuticle, and particularly there is a great abundance of zooxanthellae algae (Santos and Reimer, 2018). Zoanthids are relatively small organisms, most of which do not exceed 1 cm in length. They have an oral disc free of tentacles except for two rings on their outer edge, which is a characteristic that distinguishes them from anemones (Low et al., 2016). Their variety of iridescent colors are a warning of their toxicity.

Zoanthids are mainly found in marine areas with great lighting, which is important due to their association with zooxanthellae algae. They require light to carry out photosynthesis. In addition, they present other associations with other organisms such as sponges, crabs and starfish. The most important genera are Zoanthus and Palythoa due to their abundance and their ecological role (a large number of organisms associated with them) (Low, Sinniger and Reimer, 2016). Despite their great importance and ecological role of zoanthids, they have been little attended and only a few studies have described the presence of certain specimens in specific regions. In particular in Ecuador, James and Dickman (2009) published a work on the zoanthids of the Galapagos Islands associated with the dinoflagellate Symbiodinium. This study identified species belonging to the genus Zoanthus of the family Zoanthidae and species of the genus *Palythoa* of the family Sphenopidae; both genera were identified on the island of Santa Cruz and the islet Espejo, while on the island Marchena only the genus Zoanthus was present. An important characteristic in this work is that no nonzooxanthellate zoanthids were found in the places studied. On the other hand, the zoanthids identified here were found mainly attached to rocks. The species found were Zoanthus sansibaricus, Zoanthus vietnamensis/kuroshio, Palythoa mutuki and Palythoa tuberculosa (Fig. 4)

Another work that denotes the presence of zoanthids on continents has recently been published by Jaramillo et al. (2018), who describe the diversity of zoantarians in the El Pelado marine protected area, in Ecuador. This work is quite interesting to describe zoanthids because it combines morphological identification, molecular analysis, and identification of secondary metabolites with the purpose of identifying six species of zoanthids. *Parazoanthus darminii, Antipathozoanthus hickmani, Terrazoanthus patagonicus, Terrazoanthus sp., Zoanthus pulchellus* and *Zoanthus sociatus* were the species identified (Fig. 5).



Figure 4. Zoanthid zooxanthellated in the Galapagos, (a) Zoanthus and (b) Palythoa (James and Dickman, 2009).



Figure 5. Zoantharians identified in REMAPE reserve by Jaramillo et al. (2018): (a) Parazoanthus darwini, (b) Antipathozoanthus hickmani, (c) Terrazoanthus patagonichus, (d) Terrazoanthus sp., (e) Zoanthus cf. pulchellus, (f) Zoanthus cf. sociatus.

Chemical ecology of zoanthids

In environments where dissolved nutrients and particulate organic matter are scarce, a symbiosis between autotrophic and heterotrophic species has been seen. Sponges that feed on photosynthetically produced carbohydrates, which are high in carbon but low in nitrogen, may experience nitrogen deficiency. As a result, the idea that sea sponges provide an ecological niche for nitrogen-fixing bacteria seems intriguing. In this way, symbiotic microorganisms may contribute to the nitrogen budget of sponges in oligotrophic environments with low nitrogen levels (e.g., coral reefs) by fixing atmospheric nitrogen N_2 . The cyanobacteria were the first indication of N fixing in sponges with the discovery of the nitrogenase enzyme complex activity responsible for reducing N2. (Wilkinson, C. R., and P. Fay. 1979; Wilkinson, et al., 1984).

The ability of symbionts to fix nitrogen was proven in Red Sea sponges using the acetylene reduction test, and was attributed to cyanobacterial symbionts since identified nitrogenase activity in two sponge species with cyanobacteria but not in a third sponge species that did not (Wilkinson and Fay, 1979). This study adds to our understanding of the role of bacterial symbionts in sponges and shows that symbionts benefit sponges in nutrient-limited reef environments by providing fixed nitrogen. Nitrogen fixation by sponge symbionts is a possible major source of additional nitrogen to the reef ecosystem that has been overlooked thus far and deserves more study.

Palythoa caribaeorum, a Zoanthid, feeds primarily on diatoms and does not eat many other plankton-rich food. *Suspensivorous, P. caribaeorum* feeds primarily on tiny phytoplankton. This species is preyed upon by benthic invertebrates such as polychaetes and nektonic organisms. On the other hand, this zoanthid is an essential primary consumer in tropical reef ecosystems because it serves as an energy transfer link between the planktonic and nektonic spheres (De Santana et al. 2015).

Corals are relatively nutrient-poor. Many invertebrates, like corals, have developed a symbiotic relationship with the algae in their tissues to compensate for this lack of nutrients. Most stony corals have zooxanthellae, which are algae that live in symbiosis within the polyp cells, giving the corals shades ranging from brownish-yellow to dark brown. Zooxanthellae require sunlight to perform photosynthesis and thus obtain energy and nutrients. Part of the nutrients produced by the algae is transferred to the coral tissues and contributes to the production of calcium carbonate skeletons. The host, in return, provides the zooxanthellae with a protected environment.

When the coral-zooxanthellae connection is disrupted, bleaching occurs as a stress reaction, and zooxanthellae are ejected from the coral host or when the zooxanthellae

pigments are degraded. Because of zooxanthellae's absence, the white calcium carbonate coral skeleton can be seen through the transparent tissue, giving the coral a brilliant white or "bleached" appearance. Corals can survive for some time (days or months) without their zooxanthellae. Still, their ability to survive depends on the level and type of stress and the sensitivity of the coral. If stressors persist, corals can starve and die. Bleaching also occurs in other animals found in symbiosis with zooxanthellae, such as foraminifera, sponges, anemones, and gigantic clams.

Zoanthids and their biotechnological potential

Zoantarians or zoanthids, in recent years, have increased their studies due to their great ecological value, their economic importance in saltwater aquariums (due to their beautiful colors), and above all, because of the chemical diversity that has been discovered, to a great extent. Part of this chemical diversity is due to the symbiotic associations that they have with microorganisms such as bacteria, algae, and fungi, which have a very important role in the production of secondary metabolites. Compounds such as palytoxin, ecdysteroids, zoanthamines, and zoanthoxanthins have been identified (Chen et al., 2019). Although most of the studies in the search for new secondary metabolites have focused on organisms such as sponges and ascidians, zoanthids have recently gained great interest for the discovery of palytoxin, a powerful non-protein vasoconstrictor considered one of the most poisonous of the world, for vertebrates (Fig. 6) (Wu et al., 2019).



Figure 6. Palytoxin, the most potent non-proteinaceous toxin for humans (Guillen et al., 2019).

Metabolites associated to zoanthids with bioactivity

The metabolites associated with zoanthids that have been described are grouped into four families of compounds, the sterols, the palytoxins, the ecdysteroids, and the zoanthamines. Within the sterols, compounds such as palisterol, a 24-carbon ethyl sterol discovered in *Palythoa mammilosa*, have been identified. The presence of brasicasterol, dihydrobrasicasterol, gorgosterol, campesterol has also been reported in Palythoa sp. from Tahiti and Palythoa tuberculosa from the Marshall Islands. Another sterol called methylene cholesterol was found in zoanthids studied in Hawaii. On the other hand, in Japan cholesta-5,22(E)-dien-3 β -ol and 23,24-dimethylcholesta-5,22(E)-dien-3 β -ol obtained from Palythoa sp. In African zoanthids, compounds such as stigmasterol, fucosterol and crinosterol were identified, which were extracted from *Palythoa senegalensis* y *Palythoa senegambiensis*. In *P. tuberculosa* extracted from the dead sea, compounds called palysterols (AF) and 24methylenecholest-5-en-1a,3b,11a-triol were obtained, of which palysterol A presented cytotoxic activity against breast adenocarcinoma and adenocarcinoma colon while palysterol F showed activity against breast adenocarcinoma, colon adenocarcinoma, and cervical carcinoma. In P. caribaeroum and P. variabilis collected in Brazil, various compounds were extracted such as 7a-hydroxycampesterol,5a,8a-epi-dioxycampesterol(24),24(R)-ergost-7en-3b, 5a, 6btriol, cholest -4-en-3-one and cholesta-3,5-dien-7-one, as well as two new compounds called (24R) -7a-hydroperoxy-ergost-5-en-3b-ol and 6b-carboxyl- (24R) - (8/6) -abeo-ergostan-3b, 5b-diol (Fig. 7) (Guillen et al., 2018; Elkhawas et al., 2020; Yan et al., 2021). In Zoanthus proteus and *Z. pacificus* as in Palythoa, sterols such as cholesterol, campesterol, brassicasterol, and chalinasterol were found, in addition, zoantosterol was identified from *Z. zociatus* (Chimetto et al., 2010).



Figure 7. Sterols found in zoanthids. (Guillen et al., 2018).

Palytoxins are other compounds extracted from zoanthids, and have been obtained from Palythoa toxica, *P. tuberculosa, P. vestitus, P. caribaeorum, P. heliodiscus, P. margaritae, Zoantus solanderi, Z. soziatus,* and *Z. pulchellus.* The name of palytoxins is attributed because they were obtained for the first time from organisms of the genus *Palythoa*. Palitoxins are compounds considered the most toxic to humans since they exhibit an LD50 of 0.1 mg/kg if administered intravenously and 0.4 mg/kg if administered intraperitoneally. Palytoxin has a molecular weight of approximately 3300 Da and its structure is presented in figure 8, including compounds derived from palytoxin, such as neopalytoxin, homopalytoxin, deoxypalitoxin, bishomopalytoxin, 42S-hydroxy-50S-palitoxin and 42S-hydroxy- 50R-palytoxin.



Figure 8. Types of palytoxines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018).

Other compounds obtained from zoanthids are zoanthamines, which have been identified mainly in organisms of the genus *Zoanthus*, hence the name zoanthamines. These compounds are a type of alkaloids formed by fused rings that end in an azepan ring. The first compound of this family was called zoanthamine, from there others have been discovered such as zoanthenamine, zoanthamide, norzoanthamine, oxizoanthamine, epioxyzoanthamine, norzoanthamide B, cyclozoanthamine, 3-hydroxynorzoanthamine, 3 β -hydroxyzoanthemide, etc (Fig. 9).



Figure 9. Zoanthamines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018).

Ecdysteroids are also compounds extracted from zoanthids, which, like zoanthamines, are mainly found in species of the Zoanthus and Palythoa genera. The first ecdysteroids identified were 20-hydroxyecdysone, 2-O-acetyl-20-hydroxyecdysone, and 3-O-acetyl-20-hydroxyecdysone. Subsequently, other ecdysteroids were identified such as palitoalone A and B, maquisterone, inokosterone, zoantusterone, ponasterone A, ajugosterone C, dacrihainanterone, viticosterone, 25-O-acetylintegristone A, zoanthone A, dihydropoststerone, dehydromaquisterone, epiinocosterone, turquesterone, and pterosterone (Fig. 10)



Figure 10. Types of ecdysteroids found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018).

Finally, in the group of aminoimidazoles, pigments of the group of zoanthoxanthins have been found, such as zoanthoxanthin itself, parazoanthoxanthin A, B, D, F and G, dimethylpseudozoanthoxanthin, pseudozoanthoxanthin, palizoanthoxanthin AC, epizoantudozoanthoxanthin B, homoanthoxanthin B, homoanthozoanthozoanthoxanthin 3; these compounds have been identified in both *Zoanthus* and *Palythoa*. (Fig. 11).



Figure 11. Zoantoxhanthines found in zoanthids (Guillen et al., 2018).

Bacteria associated to zoanthids with bioactivity

The genus *Vibrio* has many species considered human pathogens and other animals of importance to humans. It is not the exception for marine organisms. For example, there is a species called *Vibrio coralliilyticus* that is an important pathogen in corals. However, it has been observed that there are species of vibrios present in the mucus produced by some apparently healthy zoanthids such as *Palythoa caribaeorum*, *P. variabilis* and *Zoanthus solanderi*. Chimetto et al. (2008) found that the species *Vibrio harveyi*, *V. rotiferianus*, *V. campbellii*, *V. alginolyticus*, and *Vibrio mediterranei* were present in the three species of zoanthids already mentioned. The researchers proposed that these *Vibrio* species found in healthy zoanthids could play an important role in the production of the toxins present in the mucus that would help as a defense mechanism in these zoanthids, but they did not do any experiments to demonstrate this and the role of these vibrios. In zoanthids, it was only proposed but not proven.

Seeman et al. (2009) carried out a study to determine whether the bacterial microbiota associated with *Palythoa caribaeorum* and *Zoanthus pulchellus* was involved in the production of palytoxin (PTX), a very potent non-proteinaceous toxicant. They used the delayed hemolysis assay, which they called the palytoxin screening test. Both species (*P. caribaeorum* and *Z. pulchellus*) exhibited high hemolytic activity, which was suppressed when the red cells had been treated with ouabain supporting the assumption of the presence of PTX or PTX-like compounds.

Bacteria of the genus *Photobacterium*, such as *P. leioghnati*, *P. rosenbergi*, *P. haloterans* and *P. jeanii* were found in the mucus of the zoanthids *P. caribaeorum*. These bacteria are important since they produce antibiotics that help their coral symbiote or provide them with some competitive advantage. In addition, it can also offer to its symbiote with other compounds such as nitrogen fixation (Chimetto et al., 2008), supply of food resource (Kooperman et al., 2007) and decomposition of chitin (Ducklow & Mitchell, 1979). Given the presence of bacteria of the genus *Photobacterium*, it is thought that it can also provide protection to the studied zoanthid thanks to the antibiotics that these bacteria can produce (Chimetto et al., 2010).

Cytotoxicity

Pyridoacridine, a compound extracted from sponges, tunicates and anemones, was tested against different tumor cell lines, such as cells A-549 (lung cancer), H-116 (colon adenocarcinoma), PSN1 (pancreatic adenocarcinoma) and SKBR3 (carcinoma breast) and showed an excellent antiproliferative activity with an $IC_{50} \leq 5 \ \mu g \ mL^{-1}$ (Martínez-García et al., 2007). Psammaplisen A, a compound obtained from sponges, has great anticancer potential when tested against two endometrial cancer cell lines (ECC and Ishikawa) and triterpene steletin B, from marine fungi, also presented anticancer properties when evaluated against cell lines. SF-295 (glioblastoma) and K562 and KU812 (chronic myeloid leukemia); Also dibromo tyrosine, another compound obtained from sponges, showed good activity against K562 cells (Calcabrini et al., 2017). Palysterol A, obtained from species of zoanthids of the genus *Palythoa*, has been observed to show cytotoxic activity in MCF-7 (breast

adenocarcinoma) and HT-29 (colon adenocarcinoma) cell cultures with IC50 of 170-178 μ M. Palisterol F (also extracted from *Palythoa* sp.) Also showed antitumor activity with MCF-7 (IC50 = 82 μ M), HT-29 (IC50 = 122 μ M) and HeLa (IC50 = 128 μ M, cervical cancer) (Guillen et al. ., 2018) Ecteinascidin, extracted from the ascidian Ecteinascidia sp., is a compound already accepted by the Food and Drug Administration from USA, as an anticancer treatment agent and is even already on the market, bryostatin (from the bryozoan (Bugula neritin) is in phase III while dehydrodidemnin B (Aplidium albicans), dolastatin 10 (Dolabella auricularia) and kahalalida F (Elysia rufescens) are in clinical phase II. Other compounds such as bengamide (Jaspidae sp.) and hemiasterlin (sponges) are in phase I and vitilevuamide (Didemnum cuculiferum and Polysyncranton lithostrotum) are only in the preclinical phase (Agrawal et al., 2017; Dou and Dong, 2019; Watters, 2018).
METHODOLOGY

Sample collection

Zoanthids in this study were sampled under Exemption Permit Number N° 005-17 IC-FAU-DPSE/MA, by Centro Nacional de Acuicultura e Investigaciones Marinas (CENAIM). There were no endangered or protected species involved. Nine zoanthids samples were collected at a depth of between 50 cm in rocky intertidal zones between San Pedro de Manglaralto and Ayangue, Province of Santa Elena (Fig. 12). This samples collection were collected in sterile Ziploc plastic bags filled with fresh seawater and transferred to the laboratory for processing.



Figure 12. Study area of specimens collected (Karla Jaramillo, 2018). A) Sample collection site in REMAPE, San Pedro de Manglaralto; B) Zoanthids collected in REMAPE.

Isolation of bacteria and growth conditions

The zoanthids samples were washed with sterile seawater in order to remove endobionts, macroscopic epibionts, sand and detritus. Five grams of tissue taken from different parts of the organism and these were macerated and diluted in 45 mL sterile natural seawater (NSW). Later one hundred (100) µL of dilutions of serial dilutions (10¹ a 10⁵) were made in triplicate using the spread plate technique (Phadale & Kumar, 2018) and placed in Petri dishes containing Marine Agar (MA; Difco 2216). Plates were incubating for 72 hours at 27°C in a period of two days. After incubation, several strains were selected for morphological differences. Subsequently, each strain was purified, by strain seeding, on individual plates. Once the strains were obtained, they were incubated at 27°C for two days. The isolated strains were re-cultivated in 1 mL of Luria-Bertani (LB) broth at 2% NaCl to later be incubated at 30°C for 24 hours. The culture was diluted in a 70% glycerol solution to be stored in a -80°C freezer for later use.

Biochemical characterization of isolated strains

All zoanthids isolates were characterized by performing various biochemical tests according to Kalimutho et al., 2007. Bacterial cultures were examined for their Gram reaction by conventional staining methods. The biochemical assays evaluated included catalysis reaction, oxidase presence, amino acid (arginine, ornithine, and lysine) utilization, carbohydrate (celabiose, D-galactose, D-arabinose, D-sucrose and D-mannitol) utilization, use of citrate as a carbon source, the formation of diacetyl (Voges-Proskauer), and indole production. Oxidative/fermentation test (O/F) in order to determine the metabolism of bacterial isolates when using glucose as a source of substrate (Fig. 13).



Figure 13. Illustration of minuterized biochemical tests.

Molecular identification of isolated strains

DNA extraction and amplification

The sixteen bacterial isolates were identified by molecular analysis by amplifying the 16s rRNA genes using the universal primers 27F (5'-AGAGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG-3') and 1492R (5'-TACGGYTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3'). Bacterial DNA was extracted following the procedure described by Anand et al. (2006) with slight modifications. Fresh individual colonies were suspended in 500 µl of buffer solution (100 Mm NaCl, 10 Mm Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 1mM EDTA) and 80 µL of 10% SDS, placed in a water bath at 55 °C for one hour, 600 µL of phenol and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 min. The supernatant was recovered, 1 volume of chloroform-isoamyl (24: 1) was added, centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 10 minutes. 2.5 volumes of cold 100% ethanol and 0.5 volumes of 5M ammonium acetate were added to the supernatant. The solution was stored at -20 ° C overnight. The solution was centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 15 min and the supernatant was removed. Two washes were carried out with 300 µL of cold 70% ethanol. The pellet was allowed to dry for 2 hours at 45 °C and the DNA was resuspended in 50 µL of Milli-Q water. The amplified products were sent to Macrogen (Seoul, Korea) for sequencing. Subsequently, the sequences were aligned with the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) BLASTn public database based on > 98% identity.

Phylogenetic analysis

Database search and comparisons from zoanthids strains were done with the BLASTn search using the NCBI database. The gaps of the sequences obtained using BioEdit software version 4.7.3 (http://www.mbio.ncsu.edu/bioedit/bioedit.html) were edited. The sequences were then assembled using the GENEIOUS software, multiple sequence alignments obtained from the NCBI were performed in MEGA v.10 (Kumar et al., 2016) using ClustalW. By using the Maximum Likelihood (ML) and Bayesian Inference (BI) in a MEGA v.10 the phylogenetic tree was generated based on 16S rRNA gene sequences. The GTR+I+G model was determined in jModelTest 0.1.1 as the most appropriate, based on both the Bayesian and Akaike information criterion, and was used for ML and BI analyses. Bootstrap resampling was performed on 1000 replicates.

Production of bacterial biomass

The 16 bacterial isolates were grown by individual Petri dishes in MA, and incubated at 27 °C for 48 h. Subsequently, individual colonies of zoanthids were transferred to test tubes with 10mL of LB medium in NSW, and incubated for 48 h at 27 °C. Then the bacterial culture was centrifuged (4000 g, 10 min, 4 °C). Then the pellets were resuspended in NSW to later be stored at 25 °C (room temperature). The final concentration (CFU mL^{-1}) and bacterial viability were determined by plating the bacterial suspension in MA, as described previously.

Preparation of extracts and fractions

Bacterial extracts were prepared as described by Dash et al., 2009 with slight modifications. Aliquots of 1 mL of the previously prepared bacterial stocks were inoculated in 10 mL of LB medium and incubated at 28 °C for 24 hours. This inoculum was transferred to flasks containing 500 mL of LB and incubated at 28 °C for 24 hours. Subsequently the inoculum were transferred to 1L flasks. Once the stationary phase was reached after 3 days

of bacterial growth, the bacterial culture was centrifuged at 4000g for 15 minutes, and the microbial pellet was collected. The obtained cell pellets were extracted with a mixture of CH_3OH/CH_3CH_3 (1:1) and placed in a sonicator bath 2 times for 5 minutes each time at a frequency of 40 kHz. It was left to rest for 30-60 minutes at temperatures below 30 °C and protected from light. The samples were filtered and the extract was placed in a round bottom balloon.

The organic phase was recovered and the solvent was evaporated on a rotary evaporator (Buchi, RII, Switzerland). Solid Phase Extraction (SPE) was carried out with SPE C18 cartridges (Thermo Scientific, HYPERSEC, United States), using five different eluents, 10 mL each: H₂O (F1), H₂O:CH₃OH 1:1 (F2), CH₃OH (F3) (JT Baker, Trinidad and Tobago), CH₃OH:CH₂Cl₂ 1:1 (F4), and CH₂Cl₂ (F5) (SupraSolv®, Merck, Germany). Fractions F2 and F3 were evaporated to dryness. The SPE residues were recovered with the same solvent used in the elution for each fraction, filtered through 0.22 µm filters (Merck Millipore Co.), and injected into the Ultra-High Efficiency Liquid Chromatography with Diode Array Detector and Evaporative Light Scattering Detection (UPLC-DAD-ELSD) (Waters, H-CLASS 1, Singapore). Chromatographic runs were performed with a reversed phase column (C18) of dimensions 50 x 2.1 mm and 1.7 µm in particle size (ACQUITY, Waters, Ireland). The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile (Sigma-Aldrich, South Korea) and grade I water, acidified with 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, France). A gradient of water (A) and acetonitrile (B) was performed for 0-2 minutes 10% B, from 2-10 minutes B increased to 100%, from 10-12 minutes B was maintained and finally from 12-15 minutes B dropped to 10%. The absorbance was recorded at 254 nm.

Animal health evaluation

The pathogenic shrimp vibrios evaluated were*Vibrio harveyi* (strain E22), *Vibrio campbellii* (strain LM2013), *Vibrio vulnificus* (strain S2), and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* (strain BA94C2, positive to PirA/PirB toxins). The antimicrobial activity of the extracts was evaluated against two pathogenic shrimp vibrios, including *Vibrio harveyi* (strain E22), and *Vibrio vulnificus* (strain S2) and the other two pathogens were not evaluated due to the lack of biological material. This test consisted of determining the antibacterial effect of the crude

extracts using disc diffusion method (Kirby-Bauer). Subsequently, we also evaluated the capacity of the supernatant of the bacteria when they were cultured in liquid medium by well agar diffusion method modified by Al Atya et al. (2015), against the four pathogenic vibrios. In addition, the exclusion capacity of isolates was also evaluated to exclude the four pathogenic vibrios Al Atya et al. (2015) with modifications. We also evaluated the ability of the extracts at non-microbicide doses to interrupt the formation of biofilms of pathogenic *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* (strain BA94C2, positive to PirA/PirB toxins), using the method described by Domínguez et al. (2018). The bacterial biofilm biomass was stained with violet crystal (CV) and quantified spectrophotometrically following the methodology described by Djordjevic et al. (2002), with slight modifications.

Antimicrobial activity

The pathogenic vibrios were spread in Tryptone Soy Broth (TSB; Oxoid CM129) at 2% NaCl and adjusted to a concentration of $1x10^8$ by absorbance using calibration curves $(OD_{0.3})$ which simulates a concentration of c One hundred (100) µl of the bacterial inoculum were spread by extension in Petri dishes of Marine Agar. Six mm diameter wells were punched on the prepared agar plates with a sterile hollow glass rod. Then, fifty (50) µL of the crude extracts were added to the wells. Oxytetracycline was used as a positive control at a concentration of 10.0 µg mL^{-1} , and 2% Saline Solution was used as a negative control. Each assay was performed in duplicate. The plates were incubated for 48 h and 72 h at 28 °C. Following incubation, measuring inhibition zones around the well containing the extracts. According to Zidour et al. (2017), only inhibition zones greater than 5 mm are considered positive reactions.

Microbicidal effect of secreted products from isolates

The bacteria isolated from the zoanthids were cultured for 24 hours in LB medium. They were centrifuged (18000 g, 10 min, 4 °C), then the supernatant was transferred to another container, and these supernatants (secreted products) were filtered with sterile filtered (0.22 μ m filters; Merck Millipore Co.), to remove any residue. Sterile Mueller-Hinton agar plates were placed. Six mm diameter wells were punched on the prepared agar plates as

mentioned above. Then, fifty (50) μ L and one hundred (100) μ L of the filtrate was added to the wells. Oxytetracycline was used as a positive control at a concentration of 10.0 mg mL^{-1} , and 2% NaCl was used as a negative control. Each assay was performed in duplicate. The plates were incubated for 48 h and 72 h at 28 °C. Following incubation, the results were interpreted by measuring the inhibition zone diameter around the well containing the supernatant.

Exclusion capacity of isolates

The exclusion capacity of bacteria isolated from zoanthids towards pathogenic vibrios was evaluated by a well agar diffusion method previously described by Al Atya et al. (2015). The vibrio suspensions were prepared, adjusted, and spread on the MA as described above. Two hundred (200) μ L of each bacterial suspension were evaluated at three different concentrations (10⁴, 10⁵ and 10⁶ CFU mL⁻¹) while the pathogen evaluated was at a concentration of 10⁵. Then, were spread on wells of MA plates, previously carried out under the same conditions described above. Subsequently, 2% NaCl was used as a control. The plates were incubated for 48 h and 72 h at 28 °C. Following incubation, antibacterial activity was assessed by measuring exclusion zones around the well containing the microbial isolation.

Biofilm formation and inhibition

Vibrios suspensions (1×10⁶ CFU mL^{-1}) were prepared as previously described. A volume of twenty (20) µL of bacterial suspension was transferred to each well in a 96-well microplate containing 180 µL of LBb 2% NaCl sterile at different sublethal concentrations (10.0 µg mL^{-1}) of each isolate evaluated. A control was performed containing bacterial suspension + LB + 2% NaCl without extracts form bacterial isolated, with three replicates for each concentration. The plates were incubated at 27 °C for 36 h. The cells were removed, and the generated biofilms were carefully washed twice using 200 µL of PBS (pH 7.2). The biofilms were dried at 50 °C for 30 min and stained with 220 µL of 0.1% violet crystal (w/v)

(Merck_ C0775) per well for 15 min. After rinsing the plates to remove excess dye, they were dried at room temperature (26 °C). Then, 220 μ L of ethanol was used to dissolve the impregnated violet crystal (CV). Then, 150 μ L of the solubilized product was transferred to a new 96-well plate, and the optical density was read at 590 nm (OD_{590}). The data were transformed to (%) biofilm formation considering 100% biomass of untreated bacterial biofilms (negative control). The following formula was used to calculate the level of biofilm inhibition:

$$Percent inhibition = \left[\frac{OD \ Control \ x \ OD \ Test}{OD \ Control}\right] x100$$

Human health evaluation

Human cell lines and cell culture conditions

The three tumor lines used in the present study were, MCF–7 (breast adenocarcinoma ATCC®-CRL3435), Caco–2 (colon adenocarcinoma ATCC®-HTB37), and Hep-G2 (hepatocyte carcinoma ATCC®-HB8065) from cell culture laboratory of the National Center for Aquaculture and Marine Research (CENAIM) and kept at 37 °C with 5% CO₂. MCF–7 cell line was cultured in RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 μ M MEM nonessential amino acids, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 100 U mL^{-1} penicillin, 100 μ g mL^{-1} streptomycin, and 0.01 mg mL^{-1} . Meanwhile, Caco–2 cells were cultured in EMEM medium with 10% FBS, 2 mM glutamine, 50 U mL^{-1} penicillin, and 50 μ g mL^{-1} streptomycin. Finally, Hep-G2 cells were cultured in EMEM medium supplemented with 100 μ g mL^{-1} streptomycin, and 1 mM sodium pyruvate.

MTT reduction cell viability bioassay

Fractions were evaluated against three tumor lines mentioned above by the MTT colorimetric assay ((3- (4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl) –2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide)), previously described by Cautain et al. (2015) (Fig. 14). The cells were seeded (1.0x10⁴ cells/well) in 96-well plates and incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO2 for 24 h. Subsequently, the medium was removed, and the adherent cells were incubated with 90 µL of complete medium and 10 µL of fractions (final concentration 10 µg mL^{-1}). Cells were also cultured without F2 or F3 as a negative control. As a positive control, doxorubicin (50 µM) was used instead of the peptide. The plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for 48 h. After the treatment with fractions, the cells were incubated with MTT (5 mg mL^{-1}) for 2 h, and then the formazan crystals were dissolved with 200 µL of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). The plate was analyzed in a Varioskan LUX detector at 620 nm. Cell viability was calculated considering 100% viability at the average of the 3 replicates of the negative control. The results were expressed in function of the mean ± standard deviation (SD).



Figure 14. Colorimetric analysis of the extracts diluted in F2 and F3.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Isolation and characterization of bacterial isolates

In all 16 samples processed, a large number of culturable bacteria was evidenced in the MA culture medium (Fig. 15). Different morphotypes were selected. The isolates were reseeded by depletion in individual MA plates. Of the 16 morphotypes initially selected, 13 were isolated, due to the similarity of the morphotypes of the colonies (Fig. 16). With the Gram stain, it was possible to determine that the majority (11/16) isolates belong to the Gramnegative ones. As for only a single strain of Gram-positive bacteria was evidenced. Previous studies showed that in zoanthids, there is a greater number of Gram-negative bacteria interacting with other organisms in the sea (Webster and Taylor (2011); Sun et al. (2014); Ramesh et al. (2021)).



Figure 15. Different morphotypes of colonies grown on marine agar.



Figure 16. Isolates reseeded by depletion in individual marine agar plates

In biochemical tests, a marked difference in carbohydrates and amino acids was observed among the isolates. All isolates also used citrate as a carbon source. However, strain Z-10 was the only isolate that did not use citrate (Table 1). This similar result was also observed by Vynne et al. (2011) and Vynne, Manson and Gram (2012).

Biochemical characteristics	Z1	Z2	Z3	Z4	Z7	Z9	Z10	Z12	Z13	ZOT 14	Z14	Z15	Z16
Gram staining	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
Manose	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+	+	ND	+	-	+
Arabinose	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	-	+
Cellobiose	-	+	+	-	-	+	-	+	+	-	-	-	-
Galactose	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	ND	+	-	-	-	-
Sucrose	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	ND	+	+	-	-	+
O/F an.	-	+	+	-	-	+	-	ND	+	-	-	-	-
O/F ar.	-	+	+	+	-	+	+	ND	+	+	-	+	-
NB	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Indole	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	+
Mannitol	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	ND	+	+	-	+	+
Arginine	-	-	-	+	-	+	-	ND	-	-	-	-	-
Citrate	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+

Table 1. Biochemical characterization of bacteria isolated from Z. pulchellus.

ND: not determined

Genotypic identification of bacteria

All bacteria showed> 98% similarity with the analyzed sequences available in the NCBI GenBank database (Table 2). Molecular identification through 16s rRNA gene sequencing identified bacterial species: Z1, *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*; Z2, *Vibrio harveyi*; Z3, *Vibrio harveyi*; Z4, *Tenacibaculum mesophilum*; Z7, *Microbulbifer variabilis*; Z9, *Ferrimonas kyonanensis*; Z10, *Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea*; Z12, *Agarivorans litoreus*; Z13, *Vibrio harveyi*; ZOT14, *Bacillus sp*; Z14, *Microbulbifer variabilis*; Z15, *Tenacibaculum mesophilum*; Z16, *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*.

Zoanthid	Strain	NCBI percent identity (%)					
Zoanthus pulchellus	Z1	99.45% Pseudovibrio denitrifi cans <u>NR_113946.1</u>	99.45% Pseudovibrio denitrifi cans <u>NR_029112.1</u>	99.06% Pseudovibrio japo nicus <u>NR_041391.1</u>			
	Z2	99.86% Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_113784.1</u>	99.86% Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_043165.1</u>	99.42% Vibrio galatheae <u>NR_147758.1</u>			
	Z3	99.92% Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_113784.1</u>	99.92% Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_043165.1</u>	99.60% Vibrio galatheae <u>NR_147758.1</u>			
	Z4	98.16% Tenacibaculum meso philum <u>NR_113841.1</u>	98.80% Tenacibaculum lutim aris <u>NR_043080.1</u>	98.16% Tenacibaculum m esophilum <u>NR_024736.1</u>			
	Z7	99.71% Microbulbifer variabi lis <u>NR_041021.1</u>	99.13% Microbulbifer epialgi cus <u>NR_041493.1</u>	98.56% Microbulbifer ech ini <u>NR_156859.1</u>			
	Z9	98.38% Ferrimonas kyonanen sis <u>NR_041387.1</u>	98.30% Ferrimonas kyonanen sis <u>NR_113998.1</u>	98.06% Ferrimonas futtsu ensis <u>NR_114007.1</u>			
	Z10	100% Pseudoalteromonas l uteoviolacea <u>NR_114237.1</u>	99.63 Pseudoalteromonas l uteoviolacea <u>NR_026221.1</u>	98.28% Pseudoalteromon as rubra <u>NR_026223.1</u>			
	Z11	98% Ferrimonas kyonanen sis <u>NR_041387.1</u>	98% Ferrimonas kyonanen sis <u>NR_113998.1</u>	98% Ferrimonas futtsu ensis <u>NR_114007.1</u>			
	Z12	98.52% Agarivorans litoreus <u>NR 134691.1</u>	98.45% Agarivorans gilvus <u>NR 117238.1</u>	98.40% Aliagarivorans marinus <u>NR_044585.1</u>			

Table 2. Identity percentages of bacterial isolates of the 16s rRNA ribosomal gene.

Z13	99.78% Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_113784.1</u>	99.78 Vibrio harveyi <u>NR_043165.1</u>	99.35% Vibrio galatheae <u>NR_147758.1</u>
ZOT14	100% Bacillus stratospheric us <u>NR 118441.1</u>	99.93% Bacillus aerius <u>NR_118439.1</u>	99.93% Bacillus altitudini s <u>NR_042337.1</u>
Z14	99.78% Microbulbifer variabi lis <u>NR_041021.1</u>	99.21% <i>Microbulbifer epialgi</i> <i>cus</i> <u>NR_041493.1</u>	98.63% Microbulbifer ech ini <u>NR_156859.1</u>
Z15	98.16% Tenacibaculum meso philum <u>NR 113841.1</u>	98.80% Tenacibaculum lutim aris <u>NR_043080.1</u>	98.16% Tenacibaculum m esophilum <u>NR_024736.1</u>
Z16	99.47% Pseudovibrio denitrifi cans <u>NR_113946.1</u>	99.47% Pseudovibrio denitrifi cans <u>NR_029112.1</u>	98.72% Pseudovibrio japo nicus <u>NR_041391.1</u>

The phylogenetic tree of the isolated strains of zoanthids is displayed in Figure 17. Sequence lengths of 900–1200 Bp were used to generate the tree. These strains showed coincidences of at least three species identified with the GENBANK sequences. We used BLAST analysis to determine the species name of the closest strain. In this way, was possible to identify them at the species level, except for ZOT14 (*Bacillus sp.*) who can only be identified at the genus level. This result agrees with Sacchi et al. (2002) who mentions that in *Bacillus sp.*, some bacteria could not be identified at the species level because there is an obstacle to the use of 16S rRNA gene sequencing to identify and differentiate some *Bacillus* species. In *Bacillus* is necessary to evaluate the reference genes for each isolated genus to identify at the species level. (Miranda et al., 2007).

In this characterization, three bacterial isolates of the genus *Vibrio* were identified. *Vibrios* are generally pathogenic in humans and animals. However, it confers protection to their host in many sessile organisms. For example, *V. maritimus* and *V. variabilis* have been identified in the zoanthid *Palythoa caribaeorum* (Chimetto et al., 2011) and *V.*

communis in *Palythoa communis* and *Palythoa caribaeorum*. Several bacterial isolates obtained in this study are *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*, *Bacillus sp.* and *Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea* (Figure 17 and Table 2). These genus of our bacterial isolates have been reported as useful in aquaculture (Domínguez et al., 2019; Kuebutornye et al., 2019; Radjasa et al., 2005) and also in human health (Rodrigues et al., 2017; Lefevre et al., 2016; Sannino et al., 2018), indicating that they could be used as potential strains for human and animal health.

For instance, the genus *Bacillus* has been used in aquaculture as a probiotic being a good option to improve the use of food, the immunological response, stress response, and disease resistance (Kim et al., 2021; Kewcharoen et al., 2019; Chien et al., 2019). Also, the genus *Pseudovibrio* promises to be a natural marine product with biotechnological value due to its secondary metabolites with antagonistic activities (Penesyan et al., 2011; Bondarev et al., 2013; Taylor et al., 2007; Romano 2018). Furthermore, several studies report that the genus *Pseudoalteromona* inhibits the growth of pathogenic shrimp bacteria, which is why these bacteria have been used as possible biological control agents (Wang et al., 2018; Louis et al., 2018; Ringo, 2020).

On the other hand, *Bacillus* has numerous applications in biomedicine, since this genus exhibits potential anticancer activities that can be used to treat human diseases (Almaki et al., 2020; Mostafa et al., 2019). In addition, in the last decade there has been a growing interest in the genus *Pseudovibrio* since it has been reported as a source of active metabolites that has relevant pharmaceutical characteristics (Hassan et al., 2020; Romano, 2018; Crowley et al., 2014). In the same way, the genus *Pseudoalteromona* has been associated with a range of bioactive compounds that inhibit human carcinoma cell lines (Ivanova, 2004; Bowman, 2007; Yan et al., 2006).



Figure 17. Phylogenetic analysis of the sequences obtained in this study with GenBank sequences. The tree was elaborated with the Maximum Likelihood method and the GTR + G + I model with a total of 1000 repetitions (Bootstrap).

Extracts and fractions

The crude extracts were obtained with 100% CH₃OH, from 10mL an extract biomass greater than 100 mg mL⁻¹ was obtained for each of the isolates. The same ones that were fractionated by chromatography. In figure 17, the chromatograms of fraction F3 of Z1 can be observed. Pattern recognition analysis was employed. Once the baseline was corrected, we proceeded with the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) with data centered on the mean, and scaled. Centering in the middle corrects for signals produced by chemical artifacts, such as impurities or sudden changes in mobile phase. While scaling promotes that all variables have the same factor of importance. There was a difference in the profiles, which shows that there are different molecules or compounds typical of each bacterium, as illustrated in the schedules (Figs. 18-21). In the present study, the evaluation of the extracts for animal health was considered. Regarding human health, the evaluation of the fraction F-2 and F-3 was considered.

Stacked Chromatograms



Figure 18. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z1.





Figure 19. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z10.





Figure 20. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z14.

Stacked Chromatograms



Figure 21. Chromatogram of F-3 of Z16.

Animal health: assessment against pathogenic shrimp vibrios

The most frequent bacterial pathogens in shrimp cultures in aquaculture are *Vibrio spp.*, such as *Vibrio harveyi* (Mirbakhsh, Akhavan Sepahy, Afsharnasab, Khanafari, & Razavi, 2014), V*ibrio alginolyticus* (Siddique, Hasan, & Hossain, 2017) and *Vibrio campbellii* (Wang et al., 2015; Alexpandi et al., 2021). Vibrios are adapted to the cultivation conditions of tropical peneids (Zheng et al., 2017) where they are favored by high

temperatures, abundance of organic matter and the presence of exuvia, for which they have a high affinity. To help mitigate vibriosis in culture systems, you will need bacteria of marine origin, which have beneficial characteristics, with metabolic diversity. In this study *Zoanthus pulchellus* was a screening source to select bacteria with antimicrobial properties against pathogenic Vibrios in aquaculture (Fig. 13). The selection of *Z. pulchellus* is due to its production of secondary metabolites such as zoanthamines and ecdysteroids (Guillen et al., 2018; Jaramillo et al., 2018; Monte-Martínez et al., 2019), indicating that the associated microbiome it could help the production of this metabolite.

Antimicrobial activity from extracts and secreted products of isolated bacteria

The presence of inhibition zones was not observed, we can conclude that the extracts do not have a microbicidal effect for the evaluated vibrios. Similarly, in the secreted products (supernatant), no inhibition zones were observed, and exclusion zones were observed, it being possible to explain that the supernatants of the bacteria were not filtered correctly, or there was contamination. So, that safety could not be totally guaranteed (Fig. 22).



Figure 22. Exclusion zone of bacterial isolates at volumes of 50 μ L, 100 μ l, 2% NaCl saline (SS) and oxytetracycline at 10.0 mg mL⁻¹ against Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013), causing bioluminescence in shrimp cultures. a) Bacterial isolate Z4 (Tenacibaculum mesophilum), b) Bacterial isolate Z7 (Microbulbifer variabilis), c) Bacterial isolate Z14 (Microbulbifer variabilis) d) Bacterial isolate Z2 (Vibrio harveyi).

Exclusion capacity of isolates

In the competitiveness study, only 3 bacterial isolates, Z2 (*Vibrio harveyi*), Z13 (*Vibrio harveyi*) and Z14 (*Microbulbifer variabilis*), showed positive inhibition effects against pathogenic shrimp vibrios (*Vibrio harveyi*, V. vulnificus, V. campbelli and V

parahaemolyticus). Strains Z2, Z13 and Z14 can inhibit *Vibrio harveyi* at various concentrations (10^4 , 10^5 and 10^6 CFU mL⁻¹). However, to inhibit *V. vulnificus*, the best bacterial isolate is the Z14 strain at the highest concentration ($1x10^6$ CFU mL⁻¹). Likewise, in the evaluation against *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* and *Vibrio campbelli*, strains Z13 and Z14 and Z2 showed inhibition of the pathogen, although it is evident that Z2 obtained better inhibition results (23 mm) at a concentration of ($1x10^6$ UFC mL⁻¹) (Figs. 23 and 24).



Figure 23. Exclusion zones of bacterial isolates at concentrations of 10⁴, 10⁵ and 10⁶ CFU mL, a) Z2 (Vibrio harveyi) vs Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), b) Z13 (Vibrio harveyi) vs Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), c) Z14 (Microbulbifer variabilis) vs Vibrio campbellii (strain LM2013) (LM), d) Z2 (Vibrio harveyi) vs Vibrio parahaemolyticus (strains BA94C2) (BA).



Figure 24. Inhibition effect (mm) of bacterial isolates of Zoanthids against pathogenic shrimp Vibrios.

These results show that *Vibrio harveyi* can be used as a probiotic against shrimp pathogens. Several studies show that *Vibrio sp.* serves to counteract vibriosis in cultivation systems. Thus, we have that *Vibrio alginolyticus* showed good probiotic properties against the shrimp pathogen *Vibrio harveyi* (Gullian et. Al, 2004). Likewise, Austin et al. (1995) and

Vandenberghe et al. (1999) highlight the probiotic capacity in larviculture of *Vibrio* alginolyticus to reduce the disease caused by *Aeromonas salmonicida*.

Biofilm formation and inhibition

Biofilm formed by the pathogen is difficult to eliminate (Hanning et al., 2008). *Vibrio* species form biofilms to adapt and survive in different environmental conditions (Yildiz & Visick, 2009). In this study, the percentage of inhibition of biofilm formation of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* was analyzed. The three extracts Z1, Z4 and Z16 were able to significantly inhibit biofilm formation when compared to the control (Fig. 25). The extracts of strains Z4 and Z16 decreased biofilm formation by 32 and 38% respectively. Interestingly, the Z1 strain extract reduced biofilm by almost 50% of its production.



Figure 25. Percentage of inhibition of extracts from isolated bacteria.

Furthermore, figure 26 shows a boxplot of the data, obtaining a $P_{value} 4.01e^{-013}$ with 99% confidence in the treatments described. Which states that there were significant differences in the interruption of biofilm formation in extracts Z1, Z3 and Z16. With the

results obtained, it can be hypothesized that our extracts can be used for aquaculture farming systems for biofilm inhibition.

These results are consistent with studies conducted by Suhartono et al. (2019a) who used ethanol extracts of *M. oleifera* to inhibit biofilm formation of *V. alginolyticus*. Suhartono et al. (2019b) reported the ability of an ethanolic extract of Waru (*Hibiscus tiliaceus*) leaves to inhibit *V. alginolyticus* biofilm formation. Additionally, Karnjana, Soowannayan, & Wongprasert, (2019) investigated the ethanolic extract from *Gracilaria fisheri* and furanone to inhibit the biofilms formation of *V. harveyi* and *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. Furthermore, extracts from marine *Bacillus spp*. could impair the biofilm formation of *Vibrio spp*. (Nithya & Pandian, 2010)

To sum up, Z1, Z4 and Z16 extracts considerably hampered the biofilm formation of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus*. These extract products can act as a natural alternative antibacterial agent to control shrimp pathogenic bacteria.



Figure 26. Boxplot of the inhibition percentages of the extracts from isolated bacteria. The graph shows a significant difference with $P_{value} 4.01 e^{-13}$

Human health: carcinoma cell lines assessment

As initial screening, 10 μ g mL^{-1} of the fractions (F2 and F3) obtained from each bacterium were evaluated at a single final concentration against three tumor cell lines MCF-7, Caco-2 and Hep-G2 (Fig. 27). Through the analysis of cell viability, it was evidenced that nine F-3 significantly affected the viability of the three tumor lines, showing a marked cytotoxic activity (Fig. 18). However, no cytotoxic activity was evidenced for the F- 2. The F3 that showed cytotoxic activity against the three tumor lines were retested at six different concentrations (0.315, 0.625, 1.25, 2.5, 5.0, 10.0 μ g mL^{-1}). Where only the F-3 from the bacteria encoded as Z-10 (*Pseudoalteromona luteoviolacea*) showed cytotoxic activity for the three tumor cell lines, dependent on the concentration (Figs.28 and 29).



Figure 27. Inhibition assays against Hep-G2 (top) and MCF-7 (bottom) cell lines.



Figure 28. Cytotoxic activity of the fractions. A) against the MCF-7 cell line, in B) against the Caco-2 cell line and C) against the Hep-G2 cell line. The data are represented as mean \pm SD of three repetitions and correspond to the percentage of normalized cell viability against the mean value recorded in negative control samples. Asterisks (*) denote statistical differences (P <0.05) compared to the negative control.



Figure 29. Cytotoxic activity of the fractions at six different concentrations. A) Against the MCF-7 cell line, in B) against the Caco-2 cell line and C) against the Hep-G2 cell line. The data are represented as mean \pm SD of three repetitions and correspond to to the percentage of normalized cell viability against the mean value recorded in negative control samples. Asterisks (*) denote statistical differences (P <0.05) compared to the negative control

Hu et al. (2017) identified two new compounds which they called Neoantimycins A and B and which were observed to possess cytotoxic activity against the cell lines SF-268 (glioblastoma), NCI-H460 (lung cancer) and MCF-7 (adenocarcinoma of the breast) although in this case their activity was mild. In this work, extracts were found that showed strong cytotoxic activity against the MCF-7 cell line, therefore said extract has great potential as a possible anticancer agent. Furthermore, the study by Hu et al. (2017) identified these new compounds from the bacterium *Streptomyces* antibiotics in marine sediments.

Lai et al. (2021) extracted secondary metabolites from the sponge *Theonella sp.*, within which teonelasterol L,5'-O-acetyl-20-deoxyuridine and 5'-O-acetylthymidine were obtained. The metabolites were tested against various cancer cell lines such as MCF-7, MDA-MB-231, T-47D, HCT-116, DLD-1, K562 and Molt 4 and it was observed that they presented antiproliferative activity against these cell lines. Again, as already mentioned in previous studies, the MCF-7 cell line was also inhibited by the extracts obtained in the present work.

Fahmy and Abdel-Tawab (2021) extracted secondary metabolites from *Streptomyces* sp. associated with sponges. In this work, no compounds were identified as such, since extracts (as in this work) were evaluated. They were evaluated for antiviral activity against HSV-1, Cox-B4 and hepatitis A viruses and a good antiviral activity was determined. The extract was also evaluated for anticancer activity against MCF-7, Hep-G2 and HCT-116 cell lines and showed good cytotoxic activity. In this project, extracts tracts were evaluated against MCF-7, Caco-2 and Hep-G2 cell lines, as in the work of Fahmy and Abdel-Tawab (2021) and, like them, promising results were also obtained against these cell lines.

Notably, the studies mentioned against cancer cell lines are mainly of secondary metabolites obtained from sponges, while in the present project, they are of bacteria associated with zoanthids.

CONCLUSIONS

Sixteen zoanthids were analyzed, from which thirteen bacterial strains were isolated and identified, these include Z1, *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*; Z2, *Vibrio harveyi*; Z3, *Vibrio harveyi*; Z4, *Tenacibaculum mesophilum*; Z7, *Microbulbifer variabilis*; Z9, *Ferrimonas kyonanensis*; Z10, *Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea*; Z12, *Agarivorans litoreus*; Z13, *Vibrio harveyi*; ZOT14, *Bacillus sp*; Z14, *Microbulbifer variabilis*; Z15, *Tenacibaculum mesophilum*; Z16, *Pseudovibrio denitrificans*. Although most of them were identified at the species level, *Bacillus* spp. it could not be identified at the species level since it is a more complex organism and needs other studies.

In the evaluation of isolated strains in zoanthids against shrimp pathogens, three isolates were obtained as possible probiotic strains in aquaculture. Two of these isolates (Z2 and Z13) belong to *Vibrio harveyi*, the other belongs to *Microbulbifer variabilis*. Both genus previously reported as useful in aquaculture. The isolate Z16 belonging to *Pseudovibrio denitrificans* presented bioactivity only as an extract. Furthermore, such extracts of bacterial isolates helped to interrupt the formation of the biofilm of the pathogen (*V. parahemolyticus*). Observations of these bioactivity responses in controlling vibriosis in culture systems support the importance of continuing research in shrimp with these *Zoanthus pulchellus* isolates.

In this work it was shown that the fractions have cytotoxic activity against the MCF-7, Caco-2 and Hep-G2 cell lines. Nine fractions (F-3) significantly affected the viability of the three tumor lines, where only the F-3 of the bacteria encoded as Z10 (*Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea*) showed cytotoxic activity against the three tumor lines.

Finally, it is important to mention that although many studies of bioactive compounds with cytotoxic activity have been carried out, the vast majority of them are based on compounds obtained from sponges and spices associated with them, in addition to studies where they are identified bacteria associated with zoanthids but not the metabolites obtained from them. Therefore, the present study increases the knowledge of bioactive compounds with the cytotoxic activity of bacteria associated with zoanthids.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Carry out the identification of the bioactive compound isolated from *Pseudoalteromona luteoviolacea* through mass spectrometry, to identify the bioactive compound present in this strain.

Use the bacterial strains and the supernatants of bacterial isolates obtained in this investigation in shrimp larvae to know if there would be a toxic effect on these organisms.

Identify which molecules cause this antimicrobial activity evidenced in the extracts.

LITERATURE CITED

- Al Atya, A.K., Drider-Hadiouche, K., Ravallec, R., Silvain, A., Vachee, A., Drider, D., 2015. Probiotic potential of Enterococcus faecalis strains isolated from meconium. Front. Microbiol. 6. doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00227.
- Alexpandi, R., Ponraj, J. G., Swasthikka, R. P., Abirami, G., Ragupathi, T., Jayakumar, R., & Ravi, A. V. (2021). Anti-QS mediated anti-infection efficacy of probiotic culture-supernatant against Vibrio campbellii infection and the identification of active compounds through in vitro and in silico analyses. Biocatalysis and Agricultural Biotechnology, 35, 102108. doi:10.1016/j.bcab.2021.102108
- Almalki, M. A., & Khalifa, A. Y. Z. (2020). Silver nanoparticles synthesis from Bacillus sp KFU36 and its anticancer effect in breast cancer MCF-7 cells via induction of apoptotic mechanism. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 111786. doi:10.1016/j.jphotobiol.2020.111786
- 4. Alves A, Sousa E, Kijjoa A, Pinto M. (2020). Marine-derived compounds with potential use cosmeceuticals and nutricosmetics. Molecules. 25: 2536.
- Anand, T.P., Bhat, A.W., Shouche, Y.S., Roy, U., Siddharth, J., Sarma, S.P., 2006. Antimicrobial activity of marine bacteria associated with sponges from the waters off the coast of South East India. Microbiol. Res. 161, 252–262. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.micres.2005.09.002.
- Batabyal, K., Banerjee, A., Pal, S., Dey, S., Joardar, S.N., Samanta, I., Isore, D.P., & Singh, A.D. (2018). Detection, characterization, and antibiogram of extendedspectrum beta-lactamase Escherichia coli isolated from bovine milk samples in West Bengal, India. *Veterinary World*, 11, 1423 - 1427.
- Beatty, D. S., Valayil, J. M., Clements, C. S., Ritchie, K. B., Stewart, F. J., & Hay, M. E. (2019). Variable effects of local management on coral defenses against a thermally regulated bleaching pathogen. Science Advances, 5(10), eaay1048. doi:10.1126/sciadv.aay1048
- Bondarev, V., Richter, M., Romano, S., Piel, J., Schwedt, A., & Schulz-Vogt, H. N. (2013). *The genusPseudovibriocontains metabolically versatile bacteria adapted for symbiosis. Environmental Microbiology*, 15(7), 2095–2113. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12123
- Bowman, J. (2007). Bioactive Compound Synthetic Capacity and Ecological Significance of Marine Bacterial Genus Pseudoalteromonas. Marine Drugs, 5(4), 220–241. doi:10.3390/md504220
- Burgess, J.G., Jordan, E.M., Bregu, M., Mearns-Spragg, A. & Boyd, K.G. 1999. Microbial antagonism: a neglected avenue of natural products research. Journal of Biotechnology 70, 27–32.

- 11. Carroll AR, Copp BR, Davis RA, Keyzers RA, Prinsep MR (2019) Marine natural products. Nat Prod Rep 36:122–173
- 12. Cautain, B., de Pedro, N., Schulz, C., Pascual, J., da S. Sousa, T., Martin, J., ... y Vicente, F. (2015). Identificación del lipodepsipéptido MDN-0066, un nuevo inhibidor de la vía VHL / HIF producido por una nueva especie de Pseudomonas. *PloS uno*, 10 (5), e0125221.
- 13. Chen L, Wang XN, Fu CM, Guang GY. (2019). Phylogenetic analysis and screening of antimicrobial and antiproliferative activities of culturable bacteria associated with the ascidian *Styella clava* from the Yellow Sea, China. BioMed Research International. 28: 7851251
- 14. Chen, C. H., Xiao, W. W., Jiang, X. B., Wang, J. W., Mao, Z. G., Lei, N., Fan, X., Song, B. B., Liao, C. X., Wang, H. J., She, Z. G., & Zhu, Y. H. (2013). A novel marine drug, SZ-685C, induces apoptosis of MMQ pituitary tumor cells by downregulating miR-200c. *Current medicinal chemistry*, 20(16), 2145–2154. https://doi.org/10.2174/0929867311320160007
- 15. Chien, C.-C., Lin, T.-Y., Chi, C.-C., & Liu, C.-H. (2020). Probiotic, Bacillus subtilis E20 alters the immunity of white shrimp, Litopenaeus vannamei via glutamine metabolism and hexosamine biosynthetic pathway. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2020.01.014
- Chimetto, L. A., Brocchi, M., Thompson, C. C., Martins, R. C. R., Ramos, H. B. & Thompson, F. L. (2008). Vibrios dominate as culturable nitrogen-fixing bacteria of Brazilian coral Mussismulia hispida. Syst Appl Microbiol 31, 312–319
- Chimetto, L. A., Cleenwerck, I., Thompson, C. C., Brocchi, M., Willems, A., De Vos, P., & Thompson, F. L. (2010). *Photobacterium jeanii sp. nov., isolated from corals and zoanthids. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY MICROBIOLOGY, 60(12), 2843–* 2848. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.019968-0
- 18. Corredor JE, CR Wilkinson, VP Vicente, JM Morrel & E Otero. 1988. Nitrate release by Caribbeean reef sponges. Limnology and Oceanography 33(1): 114-120.
- Costa Leal, M., Puga J., Serôdio J., Gomes N. and Calado R. 2012. Trends in the Discovery of New Marine Natural Products from Invertebrates over the Last Two Decades – Where and What Are We Bioprospecting?, PlosOne 7 (1), e30580.
- 20. Couteau C, Coiffard L. (2020). Phycocosmetics and other marine cosmetics, specific cosmetics formulated using marine resources. 18: 322.
- Crowley, S. P., O'Gara, F., O'Sullivan, O., Cotter, P. D., and Dobson, A. D. (2014). Marine *Pseudovibrio* sp. as a novel source of antimicrobials. *Mar. Drugs* 12, 5916–5929. doi: 10.3390/md12125916
- Cruz-Barraza JA, Carballo JL, Rocha-Olivares A, Ehrlich H, Hog M. 2012. Integrative Taxonomy and Molecular Phylogeny of Genus Aplysina (Demospongiae: Verongida) from Mexican Pacific. Plos One 7(8): e42049. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0042049.

- 23. De Santana, E., Alves, A., Santos, A., Cunha, M., Perez, C., & Gomes, P. (2015). Trophic ecology of the zoanthid Palythoa caribaeorum (Cnidaria: Anthozoa) on tropical reefs. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 95(2), 301-309. doi:10.1017/S0025315414001726
- 24. Deshmukh SK, Prakash V, Ranjan N (2017) Marine fungi: a source of potential anticancer compounds. Front Microbiol 8:2536
- Djordjevic, D., Wiedmann, M., Mclandsborough, L.A., 2002. Microtiter plate assay for assessment of Listeria monocytogenes biofilm formation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68, 2950–2958. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.68.6.2950.
- 26. Domínguez-Borbor, C., Ardiles, V., Bermeo, M., Bolívar-Alvarado, C., Tomalá, C., Sonnenholzner, S., & Rodríguez, J. A. (2019). *The marine symbiont Pseudovibrio denitrificans, is effective to control pathogenic Vibrio spp. in shrimp aquaculture. Aquaculture.* doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.04
- 27. Dou X, Dong B. (2019). Origins and bioactivities of natural compounds derived from marine ascidians and their symbionts. Marine Drugs. 17: 670.
- 28. Ducklow, H. W. & Mitchell, R. (1979). Composition of mucus released by coral reef coelenterates. Limnol Oceanogr 24, 706–714.
- 29. Fahmy NM, Abdel-Tawab AM. (2021). Isolation and characterization of marinesponge-associated *Streptomyces sp.* NMF-6 strain producing secondary metabolites possessing antimicrobial, antioxidant, anticancer, and antiviral activities. Journal of Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology. 19: 102.
- Gaibor, N. 2002. Un Océano Inexplorado: las Especies marinas del Ecuador. Revista Desafío vol. 3. N °5.
- 31. Gao, X.-Y., Liu, Y., Miao, L.-L., Li, E.-W., Hou, T.-T., Liu, Z.-P., 2017. Mechanism of antiVibrio activity of marine probiotic strain Bacillus pumilus H2, and characterization of the active substance. AMB Express 7, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13568-017-0323-3
- 32. Gerwick WH, Moore DS. (2012). Lessons from the past and charting the future of marine natural products drug discovery and chemical biology. Cell. Chemistry and Biology. 19: 85-98.
- 33. Gogineni, V., & Hamann, M. T. (2018). Marine natural product peptides with therapeutic potential: Chemistry, biosynthesis, and pharmacology. *Biochimica et biophysica acta. General subjects*, 1862(1), 81–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbagen.2017.08.014
- 34. Gomes NGM, Dasari R, Chandra S, Kiss R, Kornienko A. (2016). Marine invertebrate metabolites with anticancer activities: solutions to the "supply problem". Marine Drugs. 14 (5): 98.
- 35. Gullian, M., Thompson, F., & Rodriguez, J. (2004). Selection of probiotic bacteria and study of their immunostimulatory effect in Penaeus vannamei. Aquaculture, 233(1-4), 1–14. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2003.0
- 36. Hanning, I., Jarquin, R., & Slavik, M. (2008). Campylobacter jejuni as a secondary colonizer of poultry biofilms. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 105(4), 1199–1208. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03853.x
- 37. Hasan, M., Mohamed, S., Abdel-Monem, M., Hanaf, M., El Awady, M., (2020). Production Of A Bioactive Exopolysaccharide In Nanocrystalline Form Pseudovibrio Sp. *European Journal of Molecular & Clinical Medicine*, 7(10), 953-970.
- 38. Holland LS. (2016). Tunicates. Current Biology. 26: 141-156.
- 39. Hu C, Zhou SW, Chen F, Zheng XH, Shen HF, Lin BR, Zhou GX. (2017). Neoantimycins A and B, two unusual benzamido nine-membered dilactones from marine-derived Streptomyces antibioticus H12-15. Molecules. 22: 557.
- 40. Huang, Z., Nong, X., Ren, Z., Wang, J., Zhang, X., & Qi, S. (2017). Anti-HSV-1, antioxidant and antifouling phenolic compounds from the deep-sea-derived fungus Aspergillus versicolor SCSIO 41502. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters*, 27(4), 787–791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bmcl.2017.01.032
- Ivanova, E. P. (2004). Characterization of Pseudoalteromonas distincta-like seawater isolates and description of Pseudoalteromonas aliena sp. nov. INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF SYSTEMATIC AND EVOLUTIONARY MICROBIOLOGY, 54(5), 1431–1437. doi:10.1099/ijs.0.03053-0
- 42. Jaramillo, KB, Reverter, M., Guillen, PO et al. Evaluación de la diversidad zoanthariana del Pacífico oriental tropical a través de un enfoque integrador. Sci Rep 8, 7138 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-25086-4
- 43. Jiménez C (2018) Marine natural products in medicinal chemistry. ACS Med Chem Lett 9:959–961
- 44. Karnjana, K., Soowannayan, C., & Wongprasert, K. (2019). Ethanolic extract of red seaweed Gracilaria fisheri and furanone eradicate Vibrio harveyi and Vibrio parahaemolyticus biofilms and ameliorate the bacterial infection in shrimp. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 88, 91–101.
- 45. Kefalas, E., G. Tsirtsis & J. Castritsi-Catharios. 2003. Distribution and ecology of Demospongiae from the circalittoral of the islands of the Aegean Sea (Eastern Mediterranean). Hydrobiol., 499:125-134
- 46. Kewcharoen, W., & Srisapoome, P. (2019). Probiotic effects of Bacillus spp. from Pacific white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei) on water quality and shrimp growth, immune responses, and resistance to Vibrio parahaemolyticus (AHPND strains). Fish & Shellfish Immunology, 94, 175–189. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2019.09.013
- 47. Kim SK. (2014). Marine cosmeceuticals. Journal of Cosmetic Dermatology. 13: 56-67.
- 48. Kim, S., Jeon, H., Han, H., & Hur, J. W. (2021). Evaluation of Bacillus albus SMG-1 and B. safensis SMG-2 isolated from Saemangeum Lake as probiotics for aquaculture of white shrimp (Litopenaeus vannamei). Aquaculture Reports, 20, 100743. doi:10.1016/j.aqrep.2021.100743
- 49. Kong F & RJ Andersen. 1996. Polymastiamides B-F, novel steroid/amino acid conjugates isolated from the Norwegian marine sponge Polymastia boletiformis. Journal of Natural Products 59(4): 379-385.
- 50. Kongrueng J, Yingkajom N, Bumpa S, Sermwittayawong N, Singkhamanan K, Vuddakhul V. (2014). Characterization of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* causing acute

hepatopancreatic necrosis disease in southern Thailand. Journal of Fish Diseases. 38 (11): 957-966.

- König, G. M., Kehraus, S., Seibert, S. F., Abdel-Lateff, A., & Müller, D. (2005). Natural Products from Marine Organisms and Their Associated Microbes. ChemBioChem, 7(2), 229–238. doi:10.1002/cbic.200500087
- 52. Kooperman, N., Ben-Dov, E., Kramarsky-Winter, E., Barak, Z. & Kushmaro, A. (2007). Coral mucus-associated bacterial communities from natural and aquarium environments. FEMS Microbiol Lett 276, 106–113.
- 53. Krediet, C. J., Ritchie, K. B., Paul, V. J., & Teplitski, M. (2013). Coral-associated micro-organisms and their roles in promoting coral health and thwarting diseases. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 280(1755), 20122328– 20122328. doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.2328
- 54. Kuebutornye, F. K. A., Abarike, E. D., & Lu, Y. (2019). A review on the application of Bacillus as probiotics in aquaculture. Fish & Shellfish Immunology. doi:10.1016/j.fsi.2019.02.010
- 55. Kumar, S.; Stecher, G.; Tamura, K. MEGA7: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 7.0 for Bigger Datasets. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2016, 33, 1870–1874. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Lai KH, Peng BR, Su CH, El-Shazly L, Sun YL, Shih MC, Huang YT, Yen PT, Wang LS, Suh JH. (2021). Anti-proliferative potential of secondary metabolites from the marine sponge *Theonella sp.*: moving from correlation toward causation. Metabolites. 11: 532.
- 57. Lavilla-Pitogo, C. R., & Pena, L. D. de la. (1998). Bacterial Diseases in Shrimp (*Penaeus monodon*) Culture in the Philippines. Fish Pathology, 33(4), 405–411.
- Leal MC, Hilário A, Munro MHG, Blunt JW, Calado R (2016) Natural products discovery needs improved taxonomic and geographic information. Nat Prod Rep 33:747–750
- 59. Lefevre, M., Racedo, S. M., Denayrolles, M., Ripert, G., Desfougères, T., Lobach, A. R., ... Urdaci, M. C. (2017). Safety assessment of Bacillus subtilis CU1 for use as a probiotic in humans. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology, 83, 54–65. doi:10.1016/j.yrtph.2016.11.010
- 60. Li P, Kinch LN, Ray A, Dalia AB, Cong Q, Nunan LM, Camilli A, Grishin NV, Salomon D, Orth K. (2017). Acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease-causing *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* maintain an antibacterial type VI secretion system with versatile effector repertoires. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 83: e00737-17.
- 61. Lippert, H., Brinkmeyer, R., Mulhaupt, T., Iken, K., 2003. Antimicrobial activity in sub-Arctic marine invertebrates. Polar Biol. 26, 591–600.
- 62. Liu, L., Zheng, Y.-Y., Shao, C.-L., & Wang, C.-Y. (2019). Metabolites from marine invertebrates and their symbiotic microorganisms: molecular diversity discovery, mining, and application. Marine Life Science & Technology. doi:10.1007/s42995-019-00021-2
- 63. Louis, S., Nelly, W., Dominique, A., Jean-René, M., Marie, P., Cong, Z., ... Dominique, P. (2018). Survival improvement conferred by the Pseudoalteromonas sp. NC201 probiotic in Litopenaeus stylirostris exposed to Vibrio nigripulchritudo

infection and salinity stress. Aquaculture, 495, 888–898. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.06

- 64. Lu Y, Yang L, Meng J, Zhao Y, Song Y, Zhu Y, Ou J, Pan Y, Liu H. (2020). Microevolution of *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* isolated from clinical, acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease infecting shrimps, and aquatic production in China. Microbes Environment. 35: 2.
- 65. Magiorakos, A. P., Srinivasan, A., Carey, R. B., Carmeli, Y., Falagas, M. E., Giske, C. G., Harbarth, S., Hindler, J. F., Kahlmeter, G., Olsson-Liljequist, B., Paterson, D. L., Rice, L. B., Stelling, J., Struelens, M. J., Vatopoulos, A., Weber, J. T., & Monnet, D. L. (2012). Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. *Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases*, *18*(3), 268–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03570.x
- 66. Marino S, Festa C, D'Auria MV, Cresteil T, Debitus C, Zampella A. (2011). Swhinholide J, a potent cytotoxin from the marine sponge *Theonella swinhoei*. Marine Drugs. 9: 1133-1141.
- 67. Mayer AM, Rodríguez AD, Berlinck RG, Fusetani N. Marine pharmacology in 2007-8: Marine compounds with antibacterial, anticoagulant, antifungal, antiinflammatory, antimalarial, antiprotozoal, antituberculosis, and antiviral activities; affecting the immune and nervous system, and other miscellaneous mechanisms of action. Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol. 2011;153(2):191-222. doi:10.1016/j.cbpc.2010.08.008
- 68. Mayer, A. M. S.; Hamann, M. T. 2002. Marine compounds with anthelmintic, antibacterial, anticoagulant, antidiabetic, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, antimalarial, antiplatelet, antiprotozoal, and antiviral activities; affecting the cardiovascular, immune, and nervous systems and other miscellaneous mechanisms of action. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, C: Comparative Pharmacology and Toxicology 140: 265-286.
- 69. Mayer, A. M.; Rodriguez, A. D.; Berlinck, R. G.; Hamann, M. T. 2009. Marine pharmacology in 2005–6: Marine compounds with anthelmintic, antibacterial, anticoagulant, antifungal, anti-inflammatory, antimalarial, antiprotozoal, antituberculosis, and antiviral activities; affecting the cardiovascular, immune, and nervous systems and other miscellaneous mechanisms of action. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1790: 283-308.
- 70. McDevitt-Irwin, J. M., Baum, J. K., Garren, M., & Vega Thurber, R. L. (2017). Responses of Coral-Associated Bacterial Communities to Local and Global Stressors. Frontiers in Marine Science, 4. doi:10.3389/fmars.2017.00262
- Miranda, C. A. C., Martins, O. B., & Clementino, M. M. (2007). Species-level identification of Bacillus strains isolates from marine sediments by conventional biochemical, 16S rRNA gene sequencing and inter-tRNA gene sequence lengths analysis. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek, 93(3), 297–304. doi:10.1007/s10482-007-9204-0

- 72. Montaser R, Luesch H. (2011). Marine natural products: a new wave of drugs? Future Medicinal Chemistry. 3 (12): 1475-1489.
- 73. Mostafa, Y., Alrumman, S., Alamri, S., Hashem, M., Al-izran Kholood, Alfaifi, M., ... Taha, T. (2019). *Enhanced production of glutaminase-free L-asparaginase by marine Bacillus velezensis and cytotoxic activity against breast cancer cell lines. Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*. doi:10.1016/j.ejbt.2019.10.001
- 74. Mutalipassi M, Riccio G, Mazzella V, Galasso C, Somma E, Chiarore A, de Pascale D, Zupo V. (2021). Symbioses of cianobacteria in marine environments: ecological insights and biotechnological perspectives. Marine Drugs. 19: 227.
- 75. Muthukrishnan, S., Defoirdt, T., Ina-Salwany, M. Y., Yusoff, F. M., Shariff, M., Ismail, S. I., & Natrah, I. (2019). Vibrio parahaemolyticus and Vibrio harveyi causing Acute Hepatopancreatic Necrosis Disease (AHPND) in Penaeus vannamei (Boone, 1931) isolated from Malaysian shrimp ponds. Aquaculture, 734227. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734227
- 76. Nagai, H., & Kim, Y. H. (2017). Cancer prevention from the perspective of global cancer burden patterns. *Journal of thoracic disease*, 9(3), 448–451. https://doi.org/10.21037/jtd.2017.02.75
- 77. Narsinh L & E Werner. 2004. Biotechnological potential of marine sponges. Current Science 86(11): 1506-1512.
- Newman DJ (2019) The "utility" of highly toxic marine-sourced compounds. Mar drugs 17:324. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17060324
- 79. Newman DJ, Cragg GM (2016a) Drugs and drug candidates from marine sources: an assessment of the current "state of play". Planta Med 82:775–789
- Newman DJ, Cragg GM (2016b) Natural products as sources of new drugs from 1981 to 2014. J Nat Prod 79:629–661
- Nithya, C., & Pandian, S. K. (2010). The in vitro antibiofilm activity of selected marine bacterial culture supernatants against Vibrio spp. Archives of Microbiology, 192(10), 843–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00203-010-0612-6
- 82. Nunnery, J.K.; Mevers, E.; Gerwick, W.H. Biologically active secondary metabolites from marine cyanobacteria. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 2010, 21, 787–793.
- 83. O'Connor-Sánchez A, Rivera-Domínguez AJ, De los Santos-Briones AC, López-Aguiar LK, Peña-Ramírez YJ, Prieto-Davo A. (2014). *Acidobacteria* appear to dominate the microbiome of two sympatric Caribbean sponges and one zoanthid. Biological Research. 47: 67.
- Orhan, I.; Şener, B.; Kaiser, M.; Brun, R.; Tasdemir, D. 2010. Inhibitory activity of marine sponge-derived natural products against parasitic Protozoa. Marine Drugs 5: 47-58.
- Penesyan, A., Tebben, J., Lee, M., Thomas, T., Kjelleberg, S., Harder, T., & Egan, S. (2011). Identification of the Antibacterial Compound Produced by the Marine Epiphytic Bacterium Pseudovibrio sp. D323 and Related Sponge-Associated Bacteria. *Marine Drugs*, 9(8), 1391–1402. doi:10.3390/md9081391
- Posada, D. jModelTest: Phylogenetic model averaging. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2008, 25, 1253–1256. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 87. Radjasa, O. K., Martens, T., Grossart, H.-P., Sabdono, A., Simon, M., & Bachtiar, t. (2005). *Antibacterial Property of a Coral-Associated Bacterium*

Pseudoalteromonas luteoviolacea Against Shrimp Pathogenic Vibrio harveyi (In Vitro Study). HAYATI Journal of Biosciences, 12(2), 77–81. doi:10.1016/s1978-3019(16)30329-1

- 88. Rahman, Q. B., Iocca, O., Kufta, K., & Shanti, R. M. (2020). Global Burden of Head and Neck Cancer. Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Clinics of North America. doi:10.1016/j.coms.2020.04.002
- 89. Rao, K. V., Donia, M. S., Peng, J., Garcia-Palomero, E., Alonso, D., Martinez, A., Medina, M., Franzblau, S. G., Tekwani, B. L., Khan, S. I., Wahyuono, S., Willett, K. L., & Hamann, M. T. (2006). Manzamine B and E and ircinal A related alkaloids from an Indonesian Acanthostrongylophora sponge and their activity against infectious, tropical parasitic, and Alzheimer's diseases. *Journal of natural products*, 69(7), 1034–1040. https://doi.org/10.1021/np0601399
- 90. Restrepo, L., Bayot, B., Betancourt, I., Pinzón, A., 2016. Draft genome sequence of pathogenic bacteria Vibrio parahaemolyticus strain Ba94C2, associated with acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease isolate from South America. Genomics Data 9, 143–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gdata.2016.08.008.
- 91. Restrepo, L., Bonny, B., Arciniegas, S., Leandro, B., Irma, B., Panc, F., Re, A., 2018. PirVP Genes Causing AHPND Identified in a New Vibrio Species (Vibrio punensis) within the Commensal
- 92. Ringø, E. (2020). *Probiotics in shellfish aquaculture. Aquaculture and Fisheries.* doi:10.1016/j.aaf.2019.12.001
- 93. Rodrigues, A. M. S., Rohée, C., Fabre, T., Batailler, N., Sautel, F., Carletti, I., ... Stien, D. (2017). Cytotoxic indole alkaloids from Pseudovibrio denitrificans BBCC725. Tetrahedron Letters, 58(32), 3172–3173. doi:10.1016/j.tetlet.2017.07.005
- 94. Rodríguez Jenny, Cedeño Ricardo, Bayot Bonny, Echeverría Fabrizio, Silva Teixeira, Alejandra Valladares, Daniel Aguayo, Stanislaus Sonnenholzner. 2011
- 95. Rodriguez W, Osorno O, Ramos F, Duque C, Zea S. 2010. New Fatty Acids from Colombian Caribbean Sea Sponges. Biochemical Systematics and Ecology. 1-10.
- 96. Romano, S. (2018). Ecology and Biotechnological Potential of Bacteria Belonging to the Genus Pseudovibrio . Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 84(8). doi:10.1128/aem.02516-17
- 97. Rotter, A., Barbier, M., Bertoni, F., Bones, A. M., Cancela, M. L., Carlsson, J., ... & Vasquez, M. I. (2021). The essentials of marine biotechnology. *Frontiers In marine science*, 8, 158.
- 98. Rützler, K.; Feller, C. 1987. Mangrove swamp communities. Oceanus 30 (4): 16-24.
- 99. Sacchi, C. T., Whitney, A. M., Mayer, L. W., Morey, R., Steigerwalt, A., Boras, A., ... Popovic, T. (2002). Sequencing of 16S rRNA Gene: A Rapid Tool for Identification of Bacillus anthracis. Emerging Infectious Diseases, 8(10), 1117– 1123. doi:10.3201/eid0810.020391
- Sannino, F., Sansone, C., Galasso, C., Kildgaard, S., Tedesco, P., Fani, R., ... Tutino, M. L. (2018). *Pseudoalteromonas haloplanktis TAC125 produces 4hydroxybenzoic acid that induces pyroptosis in human A459 lung adenocarcinoma cells. Scientific Reports, 8(1).* doi:10.1038/s41598-018-19536-2

- 101. Santos MEA, Reimer JD. (2018). Rafting in Zoantharia: a hitchhickers'guide to dispersal? Marine Pollution Bulletin. 130: 307-310.
- 102. Shieh WY, Lin YM. Association of heterotrophic nitrogen-fixing bacteria with a marine sponge of Halichondria sp. Bull Mar Sci 1994;54: 557-64.
- Simmons, T. L.; Andrianasolo, E.; McPhail, K.; Flatt, P.; Gerwick, W. H. 2005. Marine natural products as anticancer drugs. Molecular Cancer Therapeutics 4: 333-342. - Simmons, T. L.; Coates, R. C.; Clark, B. R.; Engene, N.; Gonzalez, D.; Esquenazi, E.; Dorrestein, P. C.; Gerwick, W. H. 2008. Biosynthetic origin of natural products isolated from marine microorganism–invertebrate assemblages. PNAS 105 (12): 4587–4594.
- 104. Simmons, T. L.; Gerwick, W. H., In Oceans and human health, Walsh, P.; Solo-Gabriele, H.; Fleming, L. E.; Smith, S. L.; Gerwick, W. H., Eds. Elsevier: New York, 2008.
- 105. Singer, R. S., Finch, R., Wegener, H. C., Bywater, R., Walters, J., & Lipsitch, M. (2003). Antibiotic resistance--the interplay between antibiotic use in animals and human beings. *The Lancet. Infectious diseases*, 3(1), 47–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(03)00490-0
- 106. Singh, R.; Parihar, P.; Singh, M.; Bajguz, A.; Kumar, J.; Singh, S.; Singh, V.P.; Prasad, S.M. Uncovering Potential Applications of Cyanobacteria and Algal Metabolites in Biology, Agriculture and Medicine: Current Status and Future Prospects. Front. Microbiol. 2017, 8, 515
- 107. Sipkema D, MC Franssen, R Osinga, J Tramper & RH Wijffels. 2005. Marine sponges as pharmacy. Marine Biotechnology 7: 142-162.
- 108. Suhartono, S., Fitri, L., Nurhaliza, N., Ismail, Y. S., Nursanty, R., Mahyuddin, M., & Jannah, M. (2019b). Ethanolic leaf extracts of Waru (Hibiscus tiliaceus) inhibit biofilm formation of Vibrio alginolyticus in vitro. Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1321, 032045. doi:10.1088/1742-6596/1321/3/032045
- Suhartono, S., Ismail, Y. S., Muhayya, S. R., & Husnah, M.
 (2019a). Ethanolic extracts of Moringa oleifera leaves inhibit biofilm formation of Vibrio alginolyticus in vitro. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 348, 012018. doi:10.1088/1755-1315/348/1/012018
- 110. Tai CJ, Huang CY, Ahmed AF, Orfali RS, Alarif WM, Huang YM, Wang YH, Hwang TL, Sheu JH. (2021). An anti-inflammatory 2,4-cyclized-3,4-secospongian diterpenoid and furanoterpene-related metabolites of a marine sponge *Spongia sp.* from the Red Sea. Marine Drugs. 19: 38.
- Tamura, K.; Peterson, N.; Stecher, G.; Nei, M.; Kumar, S. MEGA5: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Using Maximum Likelihood, Evolutionary Distance, and Maximum Parsimony Methods. Mol. Biol. Evol. 2011, 28, 2731–2739.
- 112. Tan, L.T. Pharmaceutical agents from filamentous marine cyanobacteria. Drug Discov. Today 2013, 18, 863–871
- 113. Taylor, M. W., Radax, R., Steger, D., & Wagner, M. (2007). Sponge-Associated Microorganisms: Evolution, Ecology, and Biotechnological Potential.

Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews, 71(2), 295–347. doi:10.1128/mmbr.00040-06

- Tianero MDB, Kwan JC, Wyche TP, Presson AP, Koch M, Barrows LR, Bugni TS, Schdmit EW. (2015). Species specificity of symbiosis and secondary metabolism in ascidians. The International Society for Microbial Ecology Journal. 9: 615-628.
- 115. To TTH, Yanagawa H, Thuan NK, Hiep DM, Cuong DM, Khai LTL, Taniguchi T, Kubo R, Hayashidani H. (2020). Prevalence of *Vibrio* parahaemolyticus causing acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease in shrimps, moluscan Shellfish and water samples in the Mekong Delta, Vietnam. Biology. 9: 312.
- 116. Tziveleka LA, C Vagias & V Roussis. 2003. Natural products with anti-HIV activity from marine organisms. Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry 3: 1512-1535
- 117. Unson, M.D., Holland, N.D., Faulkner, D.J. 1994. A brominated secondary metabolite synthesized by the cyanobacterial symbiont of a marine sponge and accumulation of the crystalline metabolite in the sponge tissue. Mar. Biol. 119, 1-11
- 118. Vicente, A., Taengphu, S., Hung, A. L., Mora, C. M., Dong, H. T., & Senapin, S. (2019). Detection of Vibrio campbellii and V. parahaemolyticus carrying full-length pirAB but only V. campbellii produces Pir toxins. Aquaculture, 734708. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2019.734708
- 119. Wang, G. Diversity and biotechnological potential of the sponge-associated microbial consortia. J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 2006, 33, 545–551.
- Wang, L.P., Chen, Y.W., Huang, H., Huang, Z.B., Chen, H., Shao, Z.Z., 2015. Isolation and identification of Vibrio campbellii as a bacterial pathogen for luminous vibriosis of Litopenaeus vannamei. Aquaculture Research, 46(2), 395– 404. doi:10.1111/are.12191
- 121. Wang, H., Wang, C., Tang, Y., Sun, B., Huang, J., & Song, X.
 (2018). Pseudoalteromonas probiotics as potential biocontrol agents improve the survival of Penaeus vannamei challenged with acute hepatopancreatic necrosis disease (AHPND)-causing Vibrio parahaemolyticus. Aquaculture, 494, 30–36. doi:10.1016/j.aquaculture.2018.05
- 122. Wilkinson, C. R., and P. Fay. 1979. Nitrogen fixation in coral reef sponges with symbiotic cyanobacteria. Nature 279:527-529.
- 123. Wilkinson, C. R., R. E. Summons, and E. Evans. 1999. Nitrogen fixation in symbiotic marine sponges: ecological significance and difficulties in detection. Mem. Qld. Mus. 44:667-673
- Wilkinson, C. R., R. E. Summons, and E. Evans. 1999. Nitrogen fixation in symbiotic marine sponges: ecological significance and difficulties in detection. Mem. Qld. Mus. 44:667-673.
- 125. Yan, X., Zheng, L., Han, X., Chen, H., Lin, W., Lee, F. S. C., & Wang, X. (2006). Identification of norharman as the cytotoxic compound produced by the sponge (Hymeniacidon perleve)-associated marine bacterium Pseudoalteromonas piscicida and its apoptotic effect on cancer cells. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry, 44(3), 135. doi:10.1042/ba20050176

- 126. Yildiz, F. H., & Visick, K. L. (2009). Vibrio biofilms: So much the same yet so different. Trends in Microbiology, 17(3), 109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2008.12.004
- 127. Yoghiapiscessa D, Irmanida Batubara I & Wahyudi A. (2016). Antimicrobial and Antioxidant Activities of Bacterial Extracts from Marine Bacteria Associated with Sponge Stylotella sp. American Journal of Biochemistry and Biotechnology, 12 (1): 36.46
- 128. Yoshimura F, Sasaki M, Hattori I, Komatsu K, Sakai M, Tanino K, Miyashita M. Synthetic studies of the zoanthamine alkaloids: the total syntheses of norzoanthamine and zoanthamine. Chemistry. 2009 Jul 6;15(27):6626-44. doi: 10.1002/chem.200900310. PMID: 19479925.
- 129. Yuan J, He Z, Wu J, Lin Y, Zhu X. (2011). A novel adriamycin analogue derived from marine microbes induces apoptosis by blocking Akt activation in human breast cancer cells. Molecular Medicine Reports. 4: 261-265.
- Zidour, M., Chevalier, M., Belguesmia, Y., Cudennec, B., Grard, T., Drider, D., Souissi, S., Flahaut, C., 2017. Isolation and characterization of bacteria colonizing Acartia tonsa copepod eggs and displaying antagonist effects against Vibrio anguillarum, Vibrio alginolyticus and other pathogenic strains. Front. Microbiol. 8, 1919. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01919

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

Components	Approximate Formula Per Liter
Peptone	5.0 g
Yeast Extract	1.0 g
Ferric Citrate	0.1 g
Sodium Chloride	19.45 g
Magnesium Chloride	8.8 g
Sodium Sulfate	3.24 g
Calcium Chloride	1.8 g
Potassium Chloride	0.55 g
Sodium Bicarbonate	0.16 g
Potassium Bromide	0.08 g
Strontium Chloride	34.0 mg
Boric Acid	22.0 mg
Sodium Silicate	4.0 mg
Sodium Fluoride	2.4 mg
Ammonium Nitrate	1.6 mg
Disodium Phosphate	8.0 mg
Agar	15.0 g

Table 1. Difco[™] Marine Agar 2216 Medium Components